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Independent Auditor's Report 

The Board of Directors 
Point Broadband, LLC and Subsidiaries 
West Point, Georgia 

Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements 

JACKSON 
THORNTON 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Point Broadband, LLC and 
Subsidiaries (the Company), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31 , 2020 
and 2019, and the related consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income, shareholders' 
equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial 
statements. 

Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; 
this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 

Auditor's Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. 
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the 
entity's preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 

Opinion 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of Point Broadband, LLC and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and 
the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 



Prior Period Restatement 

JACKSON 
THORNTON 

As discussed in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company restated the 
December 31, 2019 consolidated balance sheets and consolidated statements of income and 
comprehensive income to record the fair value of the interest rate swap. Our opinion is not modified with 
respect to this matter. 

Montgomery, Alabama 
April 27, 2021 
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Current Assets 

Point Broadband, LLC and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Balance Sheets 

At December 31 , 2020 and 2019 

Assets 

2020 2019 

(Restated) 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Accounts receivable 

Customers, net of allowance 

$ 11 ,759,546 $ 6,318,831 

of $582,448 and $434,067, respectively 

Other 

Prepayments and other 

Total current assets 

Noncurrent Assets 

Goodwill, net 

Other intangible assets, net 

Interest rate swap 

Other assets 

Total noncurrent assets 

Property, Plant, and Equipment 

Telecommunications plant in service 

Construction and premise inventory 

Less accumulated depreciation 

Net property, plant, and equipment 

Total assets 

2,640,297 

1,211 ,918 

868,160 

16,479,921 

15,688,969 

33,375,864 

3,999,709 

53,064,542 

139,959,743 

8,944,047 

148,903,790 

28,100,794 

120,802 ,996 

$ 190,347,459 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

2,284,983 

2,451 ,121 

925,469 

11 ,980,404 

8,974,465 

6,836,652 

227 ,865 

1,666,691 

17,705,673 

86,897,573 

1,495,964 

88,393,537 

14,069,039 

74,324,498 

$ 104,010,575 
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Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity 

Current Liabilities 

Current maturities on notes payable 

Current maturities on capital lease obligations 

Current maturities on Paycheck Protection Program loan 

Accounts payable - trade 

Unearned revenue 

Customer deposits and other customer prepayments 

Accrued liabilities 

Total current liabilities 

Noncurrent Liabilities 

Notes payable, net of current maturities 

Less debt issuance costs 

Capital lease obligations, net of current maturities 

Paycheck Protection Program loan, net of current maturities 

Interest rate swap 

Unearned revenue 

Total noncurrent liabilities 

Total liabilities 

Shareholders' Equity 

Common stock 

Contributed capital - Series A, B, and C 

Treasury stock 

Accumulated deficit 

Additional paid-in capital 

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 

Total Point Broadband, LLC shareholders' equity 

Noncontrolling interest 

Total shareholders' equity 

Total liabilities, noncontrolling interest, and shareholders' equity 

$ 

2020 

227,710 

214,206 

1,109,982 

7,034,104 

1,791,213 

601 ,338 

5,522,400 

16,500,953 

94,814,872 

3,164,063 

597,236 

547,975 

878,558 

642,493 

94,317,071 

110,818,024 

6,423,480 

82,333,294 

(487,500) 

(8,106,855) 

(2,477,520) 

{878,558) 

76,806,341 

2,723,094 

79,529,435 
$ 190,347,459 

$ 

2019 

(Restated) 

251,434 

164,743 

2,764,120 

1,819,011 

426,794 

3,420,209 

8,846,311 

60,042,581 

1,265,567 

531,263 

485,133 

59,793,41 0 

68,639,721 

123,480 

47,333,290 

(397,500) 

(10,249,142) 

(2,477,520) 

227,865 

34,560,473 

810,381 

35,370,854 
$ 104,010,575 
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Point Broadband, LLC and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income 

For the Years Ended December 31 , 2020 and 2019 

2020 2019 

Operating Revenues (Restated) 

Revenue from contracts with customers 

Internet $ 33,603,547 $ 24,801,471 

Video 9,980,563 10,266,995 

Voice 7,072,128 6,984,700 

Other 562,657 165,418 

Other noncustomer revenue 5,209,440 1,895,326 

Total operating revenues 56,428,335 44,113,910 

Operating Expenses 

Direct costs 14,156,302 14,245,918 

Selling, general, and administrative 20,855,337 17,535,756 

Depreciation and amortization 19,418,109 13,099,463 

Total operating expenses 54,429,748 44,881,137 

Operating Income (Loss) 1,998,587 (767,227) 

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) 
Interest expense (3,930,317) (6,002,548) 

Government grant revenue 6,028,676 5,762,480 

Other nonoperating expenses (1 ,041,946) (1 ,744,388) 

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 1,056,413 (1,984,456) 
Net Income (Loss) 3,055,000 (2,751,683) 

Noncontrolling Interest (912,713) (223,208) 
Net Income (Loss), Controlling Interest 2,142,287 (2,974,891) 

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) 

Unrealized gain (loss) on derivatives 

held as cash flow hedges (1 ,106,423) 227,865 
Comprehensive Income (Loss) $ 1,035,864 $ (2,747,026) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Point Broadband, LLC and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity 
For the Years Ended December 31 , 2020 and 2019 

Accumulated 

Other 

Preferred Stock Comprehensive Total 

Common Stock Series A, B, and C Treasury Accumulated Additional Income (Loss) Nonconlrolling Shareholders' 

Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Deficit Paid-in Caeital (As Restatedl Interest Egui!)'. 
Balance at December 31, 2018 6.800.000 s 123.480 10.453.702 $ 24,003.493 $ (7.274,251) s ( 1,890,347) s 14,962.375 

Series C shares issued 7 776,600 23,329,797 23.329,797 

Common shares issued ,n exchange for 

7.5% interest held by an invest0< ,n Sunset 1,151,515 

Transfer of minorrty interest upon 

aequ,srtion of remaining 40.5% of Sunset s (2,477,520) 2.477,520 

132,500 membership shares 

repurchased, $3.00 per share $ (397,500) {397,500) 

Other comprehensive income s 227 865 227,865 

Net income (loss) (2,974,891) 223 208 (2,751 ,6831 
Balance al December 31 , 2019, as Restated 7,951 ,515 123,480 18,230,302 47,333.290 (397,500) { 10,249.142) (2,477,520) 227,865 810,381 35.370.854 

Series C shares issued 8,750.001 35,000,004 35.000.004 

190 000 shares of Clanty stock issued to 

noncontrou,ng interest shareholder 1.000.000 1,000,000 

Common shares issued ., business 

com bf nations 1.575,000 6,300,000 6.300,000 

30,000 membership shares 

repurchased $3.00 per share (90,000) (90,000) 

Other comprehensrve loss (1 ,106,423) (1,106,423) 

Net 1ncome 2,142.287 912.713 3.055,000 
Balance at December 31, 2020 9,526,515 s 6,423.480 26,980.303 -~ -~~3.294 s (487,500) $ (8. 106,855) $ (2. 477,520) $ (878,558) $ 2,723.094 $ 79,529.435 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Point Broadband, LLC and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

For the Years Ended December 31 , 2020 and 2019 

2020 2019 
Cash Flows From (Used For) Operating Activities 

Net income (loss) $ 3,055,000 $ (2,751,683) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net 
cash from operating activities 

Depreciation and amortization 19,418,109 13,099,463 
Amortization of debt issuance costs 286,361 1,072,132 
Bad debt expense 381 ,790 194,616 
Decrease (increase) in operating assets and 
increase (decrease) in operating liabilities 

Receivables 821,651 (1,663,717) 
Prepayments 109,145 (136,974) 
Other assets (2 ,333,018) (25,518) 
Accounts payable 4,082,455 314,912 
Unearned revenue 54 ,562 (4,504) 
Customer deposits and other customer prepayments 478 (19,944) 
Accrued expenses 1,561 ,308 (177,354) 

Total adjustments 24,382,841 12,653 ,112 
Net cash from operating activities 27,437,841 9,901 ,429 

Cash Flows Used For Investing Activities 
Acquisition and construction of plant (39,569,143) (15,322,946) 
Acquisition of Hagerstown Fiber (1,185,310) 
Acquisition of lntelliwave, LLC (16,293,798) 
Acquisition of Crystal Automation Systems, Inc. (30,380,275) 
Acquisition of Vergennes Broadband, LLC (4,518,239) 
Investment in Resound (1 ,536,866) 

Net cash used for investing activities (91 ,946,765) (16,859,812) 

Cash Flows From (Used For) Financing Activities 
Principal payments on notes payable (251 ,432) (825,710) 
Principal payments on capital lease obligations (182,032) (165,889) 
Proceeds from notes payable 35,000,000 
Proceeds from Paycheck Protection Program loan 1,657,956 
Debt issuance costs (2,184,857) (1,345,667) 
Series C shares issued 35,000,004 23,329,797 
Treasury shares repurchased (90,000) (397,500) 
Clarity shares issued to noncontrolling interest 1,000,000 
Acquisition of remaining 40.5% of Sunset shares (15,200,000) 

Net cash from financing activities 69,949,639 5,395,031 

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 5,440 ,715 (1 ,563,352) 

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Period 6,318,831 7,882, 183 
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Period $ 11 ,759,546 $ 6,318,831 

Supplemental Cash Flows Information 
Cash paid for interest $ 3,400,796 $ 4,961,447 

Supplemental Noncash Financing Transactions 
Equipment purchased under capital lease 297,468 813,304 
Equity value of common shares issued in business combinations 6,300,000 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Point Broadband, LLC and Subsidiaries 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

At December 31 , 2020 and 2019 

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
Organization - Point Broadband, LLC (the Company) was formed on September 16, 2016. The shares are 
owned 28.5% by Stephens Capital Partners, LLC, 20.6% by ITC Capital Partners, LLC, 10.3% by Kinetic 
Ventures SPV, and the remaining 40.6% by various investors, none of which own more than 10% of the 
Company. The Company owns 100% of Point Broadband Capital, LLC. Point Broadband Capital, LLC 
owns 100% of Point Broadband Fiber Holding, LLC. All operating entities of the Company are under Point 
Broadband Fiber Holding, LLC. The operating entities and wholly-owned subsidiaries of Point Broadband 
Fiber Holding, LLC are as follows: 

2020 
Point Broadband of Bainbridge, LLC (Bainbridge) 

Point Broadband of Opelika. LLC (Opelika) 
Sunset Digital Communications, LLC 

Sunset Fiber. LLC (Collectively Sunset) 
Point Broadband of the Piedmont. LLC (Hagerstown} 
Point Broadband of Ohio. LLC (Ohio) 

Casair Broadband, LLC (Casair) 
VB Fiber, LLC (VB Fiber) 
Point Broadband of Mississippi. LLC (Mississippi) 

Clarity Fiber Solutions, LLC (Clarity) 

Ownership 

Percentage 2019 
100% Point Broadband of Bainbridge, LLC (Bainbridge) 

100% Point Broadband of Opelika, LLC (Opelika) 
100% Sunset Digital Communications, LLC 

100% Sunset Fiber, LLC (Collectively Sunset) 
100% Point Broadband of Mississippi, LLC (Mississippi) 

100% Clarity Fiber Solutions, LLC (Clarity) 
100% 

100% 
90% 

80% 

Ownership 

Percentage 
100% 
100% 

100% 
100% 

90% 
80% 

Nature of business - The Company's principal lines of business are providing telecommunications, internet, 
and video services to local residential and business customers residing in its primary service area, which 
includes parts of Alabama, Georgia , Virginia , Tennessee, Maryland, Ohio, Michigan, Mississippi, and New 
York. 

Basis of presentation - The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, its 
wholly-owned subsidiaries, and its partly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany account balances and 
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation . 

Cash equivalents - The Company considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or 
less when purchased to be cash equivalents. 

Accounts receivable - The Company extends credit to its customers who are located in its primary service 
area. Accounts receivable are carried at original invoice amount less an estimate made for doubtful 
receivables based on a review of all outstanding amounts on a monthly basis. Management determines 
the allowance for doubtful accounts by identifying troubled accounts and by using historical experience 
applied to an aging of accounts. Accounts receivable do not accrue interest and are written-off when 
deemed uncollectible. Recoveries of accounts receivable previously written-off are recorded when 
received. 

Goodwill - The Company previously elected the accounting alternative offered to nonpublic entities for the 
subsequent measurement of goodwill . In accordance with this alternative, the Company amortizes goodwill 
over ten years on the straight-line basis and only evaluates goodwill for impairment at the entity level when 
a triggering event occurs. During 2020, the Company recognized $8,152,727 of goodwill as a result of the 
Company's business combinations . During the years ended December 31 , 2020 and 2019, no triggering 
events occurred requiring impairment testing. As such, no impairment loss was recorded. 

Other intangible assets - The Company acquired the customer lists of BVU Authority - OptiNet and Sunset 
Digital Communications, Inc. upon the acqu isition of Sunset. The Company also acquired the customer lists 
of Opelika Power Services One upon the acquisition of Opelika. The customer base intangibles are being 
amortized on the straight-line basis over five years. 
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Point Broadband, LLC and Subsidiaries 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

At December 31, 2020 and 2019 

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
During 2020, the Company acquired the customer lists of Hagerstown Fiber. lntelliwave, LLC. Crystal 
Automation Systems, Inc., and Vergennes Broadband. LLC. The customer base intangibles are being 
amortized on the straight-line basis over three years. 

The Company also acquired the Connect America Fund II (CAF 11) grant contract of Crystal Automation 
Systems, Inc. upon acquisition of Casair. The grant intangible is being amortized on the straight-line basis 
over ten years. 

Taxes - The Company collects and remits gross receipts taxes from its customers as required on behalf of 
the states in which it operates. The revenue presentation is net of gross receipts taxes in the consolidated 
statements of income and comprehensive income. 

Income taxes - The Company is treated as a partnership for federal and state income tax purposes, with 
income taxes payable by the shareholders. Accordingly, no provision has been made in these financial 
statements for federal and state income taxes for the Company. As a limited liabi lity company, each 
shareholder's liability is limited to amounts reflected in their respective shareholder equity accounts in 
accordance with the Limited Liability Company Agreement. The income allocable to each shareholder is 
subject to examination by federal and state taxing authorities. In the event of an examination of the income 
tax returns. the tax liability of the shareholders could be changed if an adjustment in the income is ultimately 
determined by the taxing authorities. Certain transactions of the Company may be subject to accounting 
methods for income tax purposes that differ significantly from the accounting methods used in preparing 
the consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. 
Accordingly, the taxable income of the Company reported for income tax purposes may differ from net 
income in these consolidated financial statements. 

Depreciation - Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method. 

Recognition of revenue from customers - The Company provides telecommunication services to residential 
customers on a month to month basis and to commercial customers on either a month to month basis or a 
contract basis with contract periods ranging from 24 months to 60 months. Revenues are recognized when 
provided to the customer regardless of the period in which they are billed. 

Compensation for broadband, internet, telephone, and video services is received through monthly charges 
to customers that subscribe to these services. Most customers are billed monthly for services and payment 
is due within 20 days to 30 days of the invoice date. A few commercial customers are billed upfront on an 
annual basis and payment is due within 20 days to 30 days of the invoice date. Compensation for usage 
based services such as video on demand, video pay per view, and telephone long distance are charged to 
the customer as incurred and billed in arrears. Revenue for usage based services is recognized in the 
period in which it is incurred. 

Discounts are offered to customers that bundle other services with broadband internet access. The 
discount offered for the bund le services is applied against the broadband internet access revenue charged . 

Unearned revenue - Unearned revenue represents amounts received in advance of providing services. 
Amounts are recognized in revenue when services are provided. 

Government grant revenue - Sunset, Clarity, and Casair have been awarded grants to provide for both the 
construction of broadband plant and subsidize operating costs. Grants related to construction of plant are 
recorded as non-operating revenue. Grants related to subsidizing operating costs are recorded as 
operating revenue. These grants have certain criteria that have to be met throughout the award period. If 
any of the criteria are not met, the entity may be subject to recapture provisions. 
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Point Broadband, LLC and Subsidiaries 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

At December 31, 2020 and 2019 

Use of estimates - The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, actual results could differ 
from those estimates. 

Recent accounting pronouncements - In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 
842). The guidance in this ASU supersedes the leasing guidance in Topic 840, Leases. Under the new 
guidance, lessees are required to recognize lease assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet for all 
leases with terms longer than 12 months. Leases will be classified as either finance or operating, with 
classification affecting the pattern of expense recognition in the income statement. The new standard is 
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021 , including interim periods within those fiscal 
years. A modified retrospective transition approach is required for lessees for capital and operating leases 
existing at, or entered into after, the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented in the 
consolidated financial statements, with certain practical expedients available. The Company is currently 
evaluating the effect that the standard will have on the consolidated financial statements. 

Reclassification - Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year 
presentation. 

Note 2 - Cash and Cash Equivalents 
The Company maintains its cash accounts in commercial banks, which at times may exceed federally 
insured limits. The Company had approximately $10,353,200 and $5,288,000 in uninsured cash at 
December 31 , 2020 and 2019, respectively. The Company has not experienced any losses in such 
accounts. 

Note 3 - Contract Receivables and Liabilities 
Contract receivables and liabilities from contracts with customers for the years ended December 31 , 2020 
and 2019 were as fol lows: 

Receivables 

Customers 

Contract Liabilities 

Unearned revenue 

2020 

End of Year 

$ 2,640,297 

2,433,706 

2019 

End of Year Beginning of Year 

$ 2,284,983 $ 3,267,003 

2,304,144 2,308,647 
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Note 4 · Goodwill 

Point Broadband, LLC and Subsidiaries 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

At December 31 , 2020 and 2019 

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill and accumulated amortization for the years ended 
December 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows: 

Carrying Amount 

Beginning balance 

Goodwill recognized 

Ending balance 

Accumulated Amortization 

Beginning balance 

Goodwill amortization 
Ending balance 
Goodwill, net 

Note 5 · Other Intangible Assets 

2020 

$ 10,455,687 

8,152,727 

18,608,41 4 

1,481 ,222 

1,438,223 
2,919,445 

$ 15,688,969 

2019 

$ 10,455,687 

10,455,687 

435,653 

1,045,569 

1,481,222 
$ 8,974,465 

A customer base intangible of $21 ,106,064 was recorded and is being amortized on the straight-line basis 
over three to five years. Amortization expense for the years ended December 31 , 2020 and 2019 was 
$3,087,371 and $1,955,306, respectively. Accumulated amortization for the years ended 
December 31 , 2020 and 2019 was $5,619,585 and $2,532,214, respectively. 

During 2020, a grant contract intangible of $18,590,929 was recorded and is being amortized on the 
straight-line basis over ten years. Amortization expense and accumulated amortization for the year ended 
December 31 , 2020 was $701 ,544. 

Estimated future amortization expense for other intangible assets as of December 31 , 2020 is as follows: 

December 31 . 2021 $ 7,937,956 
December 31 , 2022 7,922,877 
December 31 , 2023 5,954,626 

December 31 , 2024 2,104,633 

December 31 , 2025 2,104,633 

Thereafter 7,366,216 
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Point Broadband, LLC and Subsidiaries 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

At December 31, 2020 and 2019 

Note 6 - Property, Plant, and Equipment 
Listed below are the major classes of the telecommunications plant as of December 31 , 2020 and 2019: 

Plant Balance 

2020 2019 Annual Rate Range 

Network equipment $ 106,937,741 $ 65,771 ,713 14.00% 

Other general equipment 6,586,784 6,549,102 10.00% 

Video and broadband equipment 20,082,190 10,142,455 20.00% 

Building improvements 3,240,864 2,615,013 6.67% 

Office equipment and furniture 142,854 55,096 20.00% 

Software and licenses 1,080,870 709,813 33.33% 

Vehicles 1,779,493 1,054,381 20.00% 

Land 108,947 
Total telecommunications plant in service $ 139,959,743 $ 86,897,573 

Construction and premise inventory - Inventories are priced at the lower of cost or market and include 
customer premise equipment and certain plant construction materials. Cost is determined on the average 
cost method. These items are transferred to telecommunications plant in service when installed . Inventory 
is presented net of an allowance for obsolete inventory of $443,987 at December 31 , 2020 and 2019. 

Note 7 - Related Party Transactions 
The Company receives certain shared services from a shareholder. The expenses are recorded at fair 
value of the services provided and are payable quarterly. Total expenses related to management and 
shared services for the period ended December 31 , 2020 and 2019 was $970,200 and $963,490, 
respectively. 

Total shareholder liability for shared services at December 31 , 2020 and 2019 was $59,257 and $99,445, 
respectively, due to ITC Capital Partners, LLC. 

Note 8 - Accrued Liabilities 
Accrued liabilities consist of the following as of December 31 , 2020 and 2019: 

2020 2019 

Accrued interest $ 679,537 $ 436,376 

Accrued payroll and employee related 1,651 ,637 801 ,857 

Accrued expenses - shareholders 59,257 99,445 

Accrued taxes 435,640 459,191 

Other accrued expenses 2,696,329 1,623,340 
Total accrued liabilities $ 5,522,400 $ 3,420,209 
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Point Broadband, LLC and Subsidiaries 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

At December 31, 2020 and 2019 

Note 9 - Notes Payable 

Description 

Mortgage notes payable - CoBank; variable interest rate of 3.90% to 
4.25%; quarterly principal payments begin December 2022 through 
September 2027. 

Virginia Tobacco Commission - variable interest rate of 5.50%; 
principal payments begin August 2024 through August 2028. 

Tobacco Region Revitalization Commission - zero percent interest: 
semi-annual principal payments through August 2023. 

Diverse Power - 5.00% interest; monthly principal payments through 
December 2022. 

SW VA Fiber - zero percent interest; monthly principal payments 
through July 2021 . 

Less current maturities 
Total 

2020 

$ 93,000,000 

1,500,000 

408,000 

97,637 

36,945 

227,710 
$ 94,814,872 

2019 

$ 58,000,000 

1,500,000 

544,000 

149,738 

100,277 

251 ,434 
$ 60,042,581 

The CoBank loan agreement contains restrictive covenants relating to certain financial ratios. 

The Company incurred $3,322,266 and $1 ,345,667 of debt issuance costs related to the CoBank loan 
wh ich were capitalized during 2020 and 2019, respectively . Amortization of the debt issuance costs was 
$286,361 and $80,100 for December 31 , 2020 and 2019, respectively, and was recognized as interest 
expense in the consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income. 

Paycheck Protection Program Loan - On March 27, 2020, Congress enacted the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, 
and Economic Security Act (CARES Act) which established the Paycheck Protection Program (the 
Program). The Program was created to assist small businesses in paying their employees and certain other 
expenses during the COVID-19 crisis. The Company applied for a loan under the Program and received 
from its bank a loan in the amount of $1,657,957 on April 10, 2020. The loan is forgivable if the Company 
meets certain criteria as established under the Program. The Company filed an application for forgiveness 
on March 16, 2021 . The Company anticipates there may be further guidance issued by the Small Business 
Administration (SBA), the United States Department of the Treasury, the bank, and other regulators related 
to the Program which could impact the loan and loan forgiveness. Any amount of the loan not forgiven 
under the Program will be due April 10, 2022 with interest at 1.0%. The loan is unsecured and does not 
require personal guarantees. 
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Point Broadband, LLC and Subsidiaries 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

At December 31, 2020 and 2019 

Estimated maturities on long-term debt for the next five years are as fol lows: 

December 31 , 2021 $ 1,337,692 

December 31 , 2022 1,308,095 

December 31 , 2023 3,042,250 

December 31 , 2024 4,950,000 

December 31 , 2025 4,950,000 

Thereafter 81 ,112,502 

The Company has an available revolving loan commitment with CoBank on which it may borrow up to 
$20,000,000. The Company may borrow up to $2,500,000 of the revolving loan commitment as swing line 
loans. At December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company had used $8,531 ,117 and $2,957,502, respectively, 
of its revolving loan commitment for issued but undrawn letters of credit. At December 31, 2020 and 2019, 
the Company had $11,468,883 and $9,042,498, respectively, of available borrowings under its revolving 
loan commitment. 

The Company has an available delayed draw term loan with CoBank on which it may borrow an additional 
$15,000,000. At December 31 , 2020, no borrowings were outstanding on the delayed draw term loan. 

The Company is exposed to certain risks relating to its ongoing business operations. The primary risk 
managed by using derivative instruments is interest rate risk. An interest rate swap was entered into to 
manage interest rate risk associated with the Company's floating rate borrowings and is designated as a 
cash flow hedge. 

The Company has an interest rate swap agreement with CoBank that acts to fix $43,500,000 of the floating 
rate debt of the CoBank loan agreement. The interest rate swap agreement terminates September 1, 2022. 
Under the terms of the interest rate swap agreement, the Company pays CoBank a fixed rate of 1.325% 
on a notational amount of $43,500,000 and CoBank pays the Company a floating rate of 1 month LIBOR 
on a notational amount of $43,500,000. Payments on the interest · rate swap agreement are made each 
month until the termination date. The net payment on the interest rate swap is recorded as interest expense 
on the consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income. 

The effective portion of the gain or loss on the interest rate swap is reported as a component of other 
comprehensive income and reclassified into earnings in the same period or periods during which the 
hedged transaction affects earnings. Gains and losses on the interest rate swap representing either hedged 
ineffectiveness or excluded from the assessment of hedge effectiveness are recognized in current earnings. 
As of December 31 , 2020, $0 of the deferred net gains on the interest rate swaps accumulated in other 
comprehensive income are expected to be reclassified to earnings during the next 12 months. 

As of December 31 , 2020, the fair value of the interest rate swap of $878,558 was reported as a noncurrent 
liability on the consolidated balance sheets with the effective portion of the loss reported as a component 
of other comprehensive income of $878,558. As of December 31 , 2019, the fair value of the interest rate 
swap of $227,865 was reported as a noncurrent asset on the consolidated balance sheets, with the effective 
portion of the gain reported as a component of other comprehensive income of $227,865. 

Note 10 - Capital Lease Obligations 
The Company has acquired vehicles through capital lease agreements with Altec and Ford Motor Credit. 
Obligations under capital lease have been recorded at the present value of future minimum lease payments 
using interest rates from 0% to 8.39%. The capitalized cost of $1 ,053,281 less accumulated depreciation 
of $374,463 is included in property, plant, and equipment at December 31 , 2020. Depreciation expense for 
the equipment was approximately $199,576 and $123,225 in 2020 and 2019, respectively. 
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Point Broadband, LLC and Subsidiaries 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

At December 31, 2020 and 2019 

Scheduled future minimum lease payments under capital leases together with present value of the net 
minimum lease payments are as follows: 

For the Years Ending 

December 31, 2021 

December 31, 2022 

December 31, 2023 
December 31, 2024 

December 31 , 2025 

Thereafter 

Total minimum lease payments 

Less amount representing interest 

Less current portion 
Long-term obligation 

Note 11 - Contingent Liabilities 

$ 

$ 

225,989 

230,086 

196,751 

118,710 

61 ,643 

22,892 

856,071 

44,629 

811,442 

214,206 
597,236 

The Company has pledged to guaranty letters of credit to cover reimbursement obligations issued to 
Universal Service Administrative Company related to Connect America Fund Phase II (CAF II) grants. No 
liability is required to be recorded by the Company. The balance of the letters of credit at 
December 31 , 2020 and 2019 were $8,531 ,117 and $2,957,502, respectively. 

Note 12 - Shareholders' Equity 
The Company has raised equity capital through the issuance of common shares and preferred shares. 
Shares authorized, issued, and outstanding at December 31 , 2020 and 2019 are summarized below: 

Shares authorized 

Shares issued and outstanding 

AtDecember31 , 2018 
Shares issued during 2019 

At December 31 , 2019 

Shares issued during 2020 
At December 31 , 2020 

Common 
Stock 

50,000,000 

6,800,000 
1,1 51 ,515 

7,951 ,515 

1,575,000 
9,526,515 

Preferred 
Series A 

4,500,000 

4,121 ,213 

4,121 ,213 

4,1 21 ,213 

Preferred Preferred 
Series B Series C 

6,500,000 30,000,000 

6,332,489 

7,776,600 

6,332,489 7,776,600 

8,750,001 
6,332,489 16,526,601 
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Point Broadband, LLC and Subsidiaries 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

At December 31, 2020 and 2019 

Note 12 - Shareholders' Equity (continued) 
The Preferred Series A, Band C shares are convertible into 1.0 common shares. The Series A shares have 
a liquidation preference of $1 .94 per share. The Series B shares have a liqu idation preference of $2.53 per 
share. The 7,776,600 Series C shares issued in 2019 have a liquidation preference of $3.00 per share. 
The 8,750,001 Series C shares issued in 2020 have a liquidation preference of $4.00 per share. 

In the event of a distribution of capital proceeds, the liquidation preference of the Series A, Series B, and 
Series C Preferred shares is applied with the following priority: first to Series C shares, second to Series A 
shares and Series B shares combined on a pro rata basis. 

In March 2019, the Company paid $15,200,000 to acquire the remaining 40.5% of Sunset. Prior to the 
acquisition , the Company issued 1,151 ,515 common shares and 7,776,600 Series C shares at $3.00 per 
share to purchase the remaining interests in Sunset not owned by the Company and for general corporate 
purposes. 

In February 2020, the Company issued 125.000 common shares at a value of $4.00 per share as partial 
consideration for the acquisition of the telecommunications assets of Hagerstown Fiber (See note 13). 

In May 2020, the Company issued 2,250,000 Series C shares at a value of $4.00 per share raising 
$9,000,000. The proceeds were used to purchase the telecommunications assets of lntelliwave, LLC in 
July 2020 and for general corporate purposes. 

In June 2020, the Company issued 3,750,001 Series C shares at $4.00 per share raising $15,000,004. The 
proceeds were used to purchase the telecommunications assets of lntelliwave, LLC in July 2020 and for 
general corporate purposes. 

In July 2020, the Company issued 450,000 common shares at a value of $4.00 per share as partial 
consideration for the acquisition of the telecommunications assets of lntelliwave, LLC (See Note 13). 

In September 2020, the Company issued 750,000 common shares at a value of $4.00 per share as partial 
consideration for the acquisition of the telecommunications assets of Casair (See note 13). 

In October 2020, Clarity Fiber Solutions, LLC issued 190,000 shares of its stock to the existing minority 
shareholder raising $1 ,000,000. The proceeds were used to fund the buildout of the Clarity 
telecommunications plant network. 

In October 2020, the Company issued 1,330,645 Series C shares at a value of $4.00 per share raising 
$5,322,580. The proceeds were used to purchase the telecommunications assets of Vergennes 
Broadband, LLC in December 2020 and for general corporate purposes. 

In November 2020, the Company issued 1,419,355 Series C shares at a value of $4.00 per share raising 
$5,677,420. The proceeds were used to purchase the telecommunications assets of Vergennes 
Broadband, LLC in December 2020 and for general corporate purposes. 

In December 2020, the Company issued 250,000 common shares at a value of $4.00 per share as partial 
consideration for the acquisition of the telecommunications assets of Vergennes Broadband, LLC (See note 
13). 
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Point Broadband, LLC and Subsidiaries 
Notes to Consolidated Financ ial Statements 

At December 31 , 2020 and 2019 

Note 12 - Shareholders' Equity (continued) 
Series E restricted shares - The Company had 4,500,000 shares authorized, 3,980 ,375 shares issued and 
uncancelled, 162,500 shares repurchased, and 3,817,875 shares outstanding at December 31 , 2020. The 
Company had 4,500,000 shares authorized , 1,942,000 shares issued, 132,500 shares repurchased, and 
1,809,500 shares outstanding at December 31 , 2019. The Series E shares are nonvoting restricted shares 
issued to employees, board members and consultants. Series E shares are granted as an award by the 
Board of Directors. Series E shares granted prior to May 2020 vest over a 5 year period with 25% of the 
grant vesting 2 years after the grant date and then 25% of the grant vesting each year for the following 3 
years. Series E shares granted in May 2020 and thereafter vest over a 4 year period with 50% of the grant 
vesting 2 years after the grant date and then 25% of the grant vesting each year for the fol lowing 2 years. 
Each Series E unit has a floor amount which is a per share amount for which the Series E shares do not 
have a value unless the Company's price per share exceeds that floor amount. The floor amount for a 
Series E award is set by the Board of Directors when the Series E award is granted. 

The number of Series E shares vested , unvested, and the floor price at December 31, 2020 is summarized 
below: 

Floor Series E Series E Total 

Price Vested Unvested Series E 

$0.00 646,313 215,437 861 ,750 

4.71 51 ,500 53,250 104,750 

1.94 80,688 240,187 320,875 

2.53 89,750 269,250 359,000 

3.00 95,000 95,000 

4 .00 2,076,500 2 ,076,500 

868,251 2,949,624 3,817,875 

The number of Series E shares vested, unvested. and the floor price at December 31 , 2019 is summarized 
below: 

Floor Series E Series E Total 

Price Vested Unvested Series E 

$0.00 445,875 445,875 891 ,750 

4.71 25,000 81 ,000 106,000 

1.94 322,750 322,750 

2.53 376,500 376,500 

3.00 112,500 112,500 
470,875 1,338,625 1,809,500 
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Note 13 - Asset Purchases 
Hagerstown Fiber 

Point Broadband, LLC and Subsidiaries 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

At December 31 , 2020 and 2019 

On January 31 , 2020, the Company entered into an agreement to purchase the telecommunications assets 
of Hagerstown Fiber Internet, LLC, New Frontiers Internet Services, Inc. and New Frontiers 
Telecommunications, Inc. (collectively, Hagerstown Fiber) in a business combination. Hagerstown Fiber 
provides telecommunications and related services, including but not limited to, fiberoptic wireline, internet 
services, voice over internet protocol, and long distance services to approximately 700 customers in north 
Maryland. Management decided merging the two entities wou ld provide cost savings and other business 
synergies. As a result, Hagerstown Fiber became a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. The 
Company formed Point Broadband of the Piedmont, LLC upon closing of this asset purchase agreement. 

The Company used operating cash for the purchase of Hagerstown Fiber. 

The consideration for acquiring Hagerstown Fiber consisted of the following: 

Equity interest 

Cash 

Liabilities assumed 

$ 

$ 

500,000 

1,185,310 

182,815 
1,868,125 

Based on the fair values at the acquisition date, consideration was allocated to: 

Accounts receivable $ 75,000 

Goodwill 929,579 
Customer base 138,546 

Telecommunications plant 725,000 
$ 1,868,125 

lntelliwave, LLC 
On June 30, 2020, the Company entered into an agreement to purchase the telecommunications assets of 
lntelliwave, LLC (lntelliwave) in a business combination. lntelliwave provides telecommunications and 
related services, including but not limited to fixed wireless, fiberoptic wirel ine, internet services, voice over 
internet protocol, and long distance services to approximately 5,300 customers in central Ohio. 
Management decided merging the two entities would provide cost savings and other business synergies. 
As a result, lntelliwave became a wholly owned subsid iary of the Company. The Company formed Point 
Broadband of Oh io, LLC upon closing of this asset purchase agreement. 

The Company raised $16,000,000 from shareholders to finance the purchase. 

The consideration for acquiring lntelliwave consisted of the fol lowing: 

Equity interest $ 1,800,000 

Cash 16,293,798 

Liabilities assumed 202,754 
$ 18,296,552 
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Point Broadband, LLC and Subsidiaries 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

At December 31, 2020 and 2019 

Note 13 - Asset Purchases (continued) 
Based on the fair values at the acquisition date, consideration was allocated to: 

Accounts receivable $ 14,796 

Prepaid expenses 14,641 

Goodwill 6,148,851 

Customer base 5,143,277 

Telecommunications plant 6,974,987 
$ 18,296,552 

Crystal Automation Systems. Inc. 
On September 1, 2020, the Company entered into an agreement to purchase the telecommunications 
assets of Crystal Automation Systems, Inc. (Casair) in a business combination. Casair provides 
telecommunications and related services, including but not limited to fixed wireless , fiberoptic wireline, 
internet services, voice over internet protocol , and long distance services to approximately 12,000 
customers in central Michigan. Management decided merging the two entities would provide cost savings 
and other business synergies. As a result, Casair became a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. The 
Company formed Casair Broadband, LLC upon closing of this asset purchase agreement. 

The Company received a term loan from CoBank in the amount of $35,000,000 to finance the purchase. 

The consideration for acquiring Casair consisted of the fol lowing: 

Equity interest 

Cash 
Liabilities assumed 

$ 3,000,000 

30,380,275 

571,566 
$ 33,951 ,841 

Based on the fair values at the acquisition date, consideration was allocated to: 

Accounts receivable $ 229,756 

Prepaid expenses 37,195 

Intangibles 22,664,304 

Telecommunications plant 11 ,020,586 
$ 33,951,841 

Vergennes Broadband, LLC 
On December 31 , 2020, the Company entered into an agreement to purchase the telecommunications 
assets of Vergennes Broadband, LLC (VB Fiber) in a business combination. VB Fiber provides 
telecommunications and related services, including but not limited to fixed wireless, fiberoptic wireline, 
internet services, voice over internet protocol, and long distance services to approximately 1,600 customers 
in central Michigan. Management decided merging the two entities would provide cost savings and other 
business synergies. As a result, VB Fiber became a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. The 
Company formed VB Fiber, LLC upon closing of this asset purchase agreement. 
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Point Broadband, LLC and Subsidiaries 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

At December 31 , 2020 and 2019 

The Company raised $4,500,000 from shareholders to finance the purchase. 

The consideration for acquiring VB Fiber consisted of the following: 

Equity interest $ 1,000,000 

Cash 4,518,239 

Liabilities assumed 20,343 
$ 5,538,582 

Based on the fair values at the acquisition date, consideration was allocated to: 

Goodwill $ 1,074,297 

Intangibles 2,520,546 

Telecommunications plant 1,943,739 
$ 5,538,582 

The Company incurred acquisition costs of $1 ,647,127 which are recognized as nonoperating expenses in 
the consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income. 

Note 14 - Noncash investing and Financing Transactions 
Noncash transactions consisting of the cost of acquiring Hagerstown Fiber, lntelliwave. Casair. and VB 
Fiber have been included in assets and liabilities in the accompanying consolidated financial statements at 
December 31, 2020. The following tables summarize the noncash transactions at December 31, 2020: 

Acquisition of Hagerstown Fiber 

Working capital 

Telecommunications plant 

Goodwill 

Intangibles 

Equity interest 
Cash paid for acquistion of Hagerstown Fiber 

Acquisition of lntelliwave, LLC 

Working capital 

Telecommunications plant 

Goodwill 

Intangibles 

Equity interest 
Cash paid for acquisition of lntelliwave, LLC 

Acquisition of Crystal Automation Systems, Inc. 

Working capital 

Telecommunications plant 

Intangibles 

Equity interest 
Cash paid for acquistion of Crystal Automation Systems, Inc. 

$ (107,815) 

725,000 

929,579 
138,546 

{500,000) 
$ 1,185,310 

$ (173,317) 

6,974,987 

6,148,851 

5,143,277 

(1 ,800,000) 
$ 16,293,798 

$ (304,615) 

11 ,020,586 

22,664,304 

t3,000.000) 
$ 30,380,275 
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Point Broadband, LLC and Subsidiaries 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

At December 31, 2020 and 2019 

Acquisition of Vergennes Broadband, LLC 
Working capital 

Telecommunications plant 

Goodwill 

Intangibles 

Equity interest 

Cash paid for acquistion of Vergennes Broadband, LLC 

Note 15 - Prior Period Restatement 

$ (20,343) 

1,943,739 

1,074,297 

2,520,546 

(1 ,000,000} 
$ 4,518,239 

The December 31, 2019 consolidated balance sheets and consolidated statements of income and 
comprehensive income were restated to report the fair value of the interest rate swap. The restatement is 
summarized below: 

Interest rate swap, as previously stated 

Correction of error 
Adjusted interest rate swap 

Accumulated other comprehensive income, as previously stated 

Correction of error 
Adjusted accumulated other comprehensive income 

Comprehensive loss. as previously stated 

Correction of error 
Adjusted comprehensive loss 

$ 227,865 
$ 227,865 

$ 227,865 
$ 227,865 

$ (2,974,891 ) 

227,865 
$ (2,747,026) 

Note 16 - Subsequent Events 
The Company has evaluated subsequent events through April 27, 2021, which is the date these 
consolidated financial statements were available to be issued. All subsequent events requiring recognition 
as of December 31 , 2020 have been incorporated into these consolidated financial statements. 

On March 12, 2021 , the Company entered into a purchase agreement with a buyer to sell substantially all 
of the operating assets of the Company. Management anticipates closing of the purchase agreement to 
occur during the third quarter of 2021 . 
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Report oflndependent Auditors 

The Member 
Point Broadband Acquisition, LLC 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Point Broadband Acquisition, LLC and 
Subsidiaries (the Company), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2022 and 
2021 (Successor), and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, member's 
equity and cash flows for the year ended December 31. 2022, the period from October I , 2021 through 
December 3 1, 202 1 (Successor), and for the period from January I , 202 1 through September 30, 2021 
(Predecessor), and the related notes (collectively referred to as the " financial statements"). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Company at December 31, 2022 and December 3 1, 202 1 (Successor), and the resu lts of its 
operations and its cash flows for the year ended December 3 1, 2022, the period from October 1, 2021 
through December 31, 2021 (Successor), and for the period from January I, 2021 through September 30, 
202 1 (Predecessor) in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audits in accordance w ith auditing standards general ly accepted in the United States of 
America (GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's 
Responsibi lities for the Audit of the Financia l Statements sect ion of our report. We are requi red to be 
independent of the Company and to meet our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the relevant 
ethical requirements relating to our audits. We believe that the aud it evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Adoption of ASU No. 842, Leases 

As discussed in Note 2 to the financial statements, on January I , 2022 the Company adopted new 
accounting guidance and changed its method for accounting for leases as a result of the modified 
retrospective adoption of the amendments to the F ASB Accounting Standards Codification resulting from 
Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 842, Leases. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this 
matter. 

Responsibilities of Managem ent for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation 
of financial statements that are free of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
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In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or 
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Company's abil ity to continue as 
a going concern for one year after the date that the financial statements are avai lable to be issued. 

Auditor's Respons ibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a who le are free 
of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an audi tor's report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not abso lute assurance and therefore is not 
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS w ill always detect a materi al misstatement 
when it exists. The risk ofnot detecting a material misstatement resu lting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error. as fraud may involve col lusion, forgery, intent ional omissions. misrepresentations. or 
the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial li kelihood 
that, ind ividually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based 
on the financial statements. 

In performing an aud it in accordance w ith GAAS, we: 

Exercise professional j udgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the aud it. 

Identi fy and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures 
include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. 

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the aud it in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the ci rcumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company 's internal contro l. Accordingly, no such opin ion is expressed. 

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting pol icies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
ti nancial statements. 

Conclude whether, in our j udgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 
that raise substantial doubt about the Company's abi l ity to continue as a going concern for a 
reasonable period of time. 

We are requi red to communicate w i th those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, sign i ti cant audit findi ngs, and certain internal control-related matters 
that we identified duri ng the audit. 

April 26, 2023 
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Point Broadband Acquisition, LLC and Subsidiaries 

Consolidated Balance Sheets 

As of 
December 31, 

2022 
Assets 
Current assets: 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 9,455,68 1 
Accounts receivable- net of allowance of $1,236,827 and $898,872 

as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively 4,632,117 
Prepayments and other 1,975,035 
Derivative asset 9,871,343 

Total current assets 25,934,176 

Non-current assets: 
Property and equipment, net 391,893,260 
Goodwill 340,070,48 1 
Other intangible assets, net I 09,877,892 
Operating lease right-of-use assets 7,909,317 
Other assets 5,640,496 

Total assets $ 881,325,622 

Liabilities and member's equity 
Current I iabi I ities: 

Accounts payable $ 7, 182,797 
Accrued liabi lities 33,404,73 1 
Customer deposits and other prepayments 51 1,594 
Current portion of unearned revenue 2,399,694 
Current po11ion of notes payable 4,482,088 
Current portion of finance or capital lease obligations 689,083 
Current portion ofoperating lease liabili ties 2,055,340 

Total current liabilities 50,725,327 

Non-current liabilities: 
Notes payable, net of current maturities and debt issuance costs 414,620,523 
Finance or capital lease obligat ions, net of current maturi ties 2,370,179 
Operating lease liabilities, net of current maturities 6,057, 109 
Other long-term I iabi Ii ties 4,85 1,096 

Total non-current liabil ities 427,898,907 
Total liabili ties 478,624,234 

Member's equity: 
Common units 454,939,909 
Incentive units 1,837,498 
Accumulated deficit {54,076,019} 

Total member's equity 402,701 ,388 
Total liabil ities and member's equity $ 88 1,325,622 

See accompanying notes 10 consolidatedfinancial statements. 
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Successor 
As of 

December 31, 
2021 

$ 16,483 ,485 

4,236,272 
1,670,686 

22,390,443 

248,224,494 
332,685,399 
127,498,333 

5,4 16,914 
$ 736,2 15,583 

$ 11,704,444 
15,655,45 1 

558,187 
2,2 19,031 
3,736,000 

348,308 

34,22 1,42 1 

346,044,407 
905,099 

4.664,905 
351,614Al l 
385,835,832 

375,350,000 
413,910 

{25 ,3 84, I 59} 
350,379,751 

$ 736,215,583 
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Point Broadband Acquisition, LLC and Subsidiaries 

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss 

Revenues: 
Customer revenue 
Regulatory revenue 

Total revenues 

Operating expenses: 
Cost of revenues 
Sell ing, genera l, and administrative 
Depreciation and amortization 
Other operating expense (income) 

Total operating expenses 

Operat ing (loss) income 

Other expense: 
Interest expense, net 
Other ( income) expense, net 

Tota l other expense 

Net loss 

Noncontrolling interest 
Net loss, controlling interest 

Other comprehensive income: 
Unrea lized gain on derivatives held as 

cash flow hedges 
Comprehensive loss 

Year Ended 
December 31, 

2022 

$ 75,814,034 
13,528,851 
89,342,885 

13,944,728 
30,721 ,534 
65,795,711 

772,238 
111 ,234,211 

(2 1,891,326) 

35,738,670 
(28,938,136) 

6,800,534 

(28,69 J ,860) 

-
(28,691,860) 

-
$ (28,69 J ,860) 

See accompanying notes to consolidated_f,nancial statements. 
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Successor Predecessor 
Period From Period From 
October 1, to January 1, to 
December 31, September 30, 

2021 2021 

$ 17,071 ,654 $ 47,640,337 
3,382,2 13 4,9 19,0 10 

20,453,867 52,559,347 

3,044,455 9,569,592 
8,49 1.366 20,065,801 

16,882, 1 I 7 2 1,807,694 
(92, 179) ( 4, I I 3,886) 

28,325,759 47,329,20 I 

(7,871 ,892) 5,230,146 

7,503,247 3,865,387 
I 0,009,020 4,831 ,431 
17,5 12,267 8,696,818 

(25 ,384, 159) (3 ,466,672) 

- 864,884 
(25 ,384, 159) (4,331 ,556) 

- 342,558 
$ (25 ,384, 159) $ (3,988,998) 
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li',redtctssor 

Balanc,e a1 Janual) I, 2021 (Predecl'ssor) 
Other comprchcr1S1n• mcome 
Net (loss) mcome 

Balance at Sep1cmbcr JO. 2021 
(Predecessor) 

urc-tssor 

Balance at October I. 2021 (SUC'Cesso1) 
Issuance of unilS and rontribuuons 
Shan.•-base-d compcnsanon 
Net JQSS 

Balance at ~ember 31. 2021 (Successor) 

Add1t1onal mve-sted capital 
Shan.·-liascd compcnsatmn cxpe11se 
Net loss 

Ba.lance at December 31, 2022 

Point Broadband Acquisition, LLC and Subsidiaries 

Consolidated Statements of Member s Equity 

li'n:ferr,ed Stoc k 
Commo n 1orll Series A, B, and C 1·reasury Acrum ula.ttd Additional 

S hares Amount hares ~\ mount Sha res Ddicit l'aid-!ln Ca(!ila l 

9.526,515 6,423;180 2.9.980,303 82.333.2'M (487.500) (6,339,61 3) (2.477,520) 

(4,33 1.556) 

9 526,515 s 6.423 480 26980.JO} s 82,333.294 s (487,500) s 10.671,169) s (2 477,520) 

To ta.I 
Common l"nilS lnrenti,·~ lln i1s Arrumtdat~d Member's 

l ' nib Amounl l 'nits Amounl Dt fid t E.qu ity 

s s S, s 
100 375.350.000 375,350,000 

97.850 413.910 413.910 
125,384,159) (25,384.159) 

100 375.350.ClOO 97.850 4 IJ.910 (2S.384, I 59) 350,379.75 I 

79589,909 79,589,909 
(5.120) 1,423.5 8 1,423,588 

(28.691 ,860) (28,691.8601 
100 S: 454,939,909 92.630 $ 1.837.49 $ (54,076.0191 S 402,701,388 

Su oc<·ompa,ry•,rrg 11ores ro co11so/1da1ed fi11011c10l srateme:ms. 

5 

Accumulaird 
Othtr Total 

Com prehensin Nonc,ontrollini: !\!ember' s 
Income (Loss) lnterts t Eg uity 

(878,558) 2.723.09.i 81.296.677 
342,558 342,558 

64,8 4 (3.,466.672) 

$ 536,0001 s J,587,97 s 78 172.563 
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Point Broadband Acquisition, LLC and Subsidiaries 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

Cash now from operating activities 
Ne1 loss 
Adjustments to reconcile nc1 loss to net cash provided by 

operating activities: 
Depreciation and amomzation 
Non-cash opera1ing lease expense 
Gain on forgiveness of debt 
i\111or1iza1ion or debt issuance costs 
Bad debt expense 
Share-based compensa1ion expense 
(Increase) decrease in: 

Receivables 
Prepayments 
Derivaiive asse1 
O1hcr assets 
Accounts payable 
Unearned revenue 
Operating lease liabilities 
Customer deposns and 01her cus1omer prepayments 
Accnied liabi lities 
Other long-1em1 liabilities 

Net cash provided by opcraiing act ivities 

Cash now from investing activi ties 
Acquisition and constmction of fixed assets 
Cash paid fo r acquis i1ion, net of cash acqui red 
Work ing capital payment 
Net cash used in investing act ivi1ies 

Cash now from fin ancing ac rivitics 
Net proceeds from credit agreement borrowings 
Principal payments on notes payable 
Proceeds from notes payable 
Pay111en1 of debt issuance costs 
Finance leases and notes payable payments 
norrowings under finance leases and notes payable 
Payment of earnout liabili ty 
Purchase of interest rate cap con1ract 
Contributions from member 
Net cash provided by financing act1vi11es 

Net decrease in cash and cash cquivalcn1s 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 

Non-cash supplemental disclosures 
Accmcd capital expenditures in accrued liabilities 
Cash paid for interest on loans 
Significant noncash 1ransaction - acquisit ion of Fiber South 
Equipment purchased under finance or capital leases 

See accompanying notes to consolidmedfi11ancwl statements. 
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Year Ended 
December 31, 2022 

s (28.691 ,860) 

6:i.795.7 11 
1,35 1.021 

-
2,978.163 

625,558 
1,423.588 

( 1.02 1.403) 
(304,349) 

(9,159,343) 
(223.583) 

(4.521 .647) 
73.449 

( 1,147,889) 
(46.593) 

6,23 1,657 
293.404 

33.655,884 

(159,226,276) 
(25, 179.744) 

-
( 184.406,020) 

67.3 15,000 
-
-

(887.500) 
(649.906) 

2 1,506 
(954,676) 
(7 12.000) 

79,589,908 
143.722.332 

(7,027,804) 
16,483.485 

s 9,455,68 1 

s 12.1 75,583 

s 29,807,342 

s -
s 2.3 14.7 10 

Successor 
Period Fro m 
October I, to 

December 3 1, 202 1 

s (25.384, 159) 

16.882.117 
-
-

444.111 
127, 104 
4 13.910 

(3.107.987) 
222.336 

-
1.589, 7 12 
3,324.6 10 

(7,727) 
-

287.463 
16.632.656 

-
11.424. 146 

(38,525.846) 
-
-

(38,525,846) 

-
-
-
-

(78.862) 
-

( 1,489.618) 
-
-

( 1.568.480) 

(28,670, 180) 
45. 153.665 

s 16,483.485 

$ 6.905,024 

$ 658,428 

$ -
$ 405.730 

Predecessor 
Pl·riod Fro m 
.January I , 10 

Sentembcr JO, 202 1 

$ (3.466.672) 

2 1.807.694 
-

(1,657,956) 
355.957 
3 14,427 

-
1,792.250 

(1,024.859) 
-

( 1.506.9 I 8) 
1,597.433 

(99,735) 
-

(330.614) 
8.796,541 
4,500.000 

J 1.077.548 

(76.639.173) 
-

(67,000) 
(76,706,173) 

-
(213,856) 

42,262.484 
(627.427) 
(203,606) 

-
-
-
-

41.217.595 

(4.41 1,030) 
11,759,547 

s 7,348,5 17 

$ 3.988, 138 

s 3.953.358 

s 6.000.000 

s 318.702 
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Point Broadband Acquisition, LLC and Subsidiaries 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended December 31 , 2022 and for the 
Periods From October I, 2021 to December 31, 2021 (Successor) 

and January I, 202 1 to September 30, 202 l (Predecessor) 

I. Nature of Operations and Basis of Presentation 

Nature of Operations 

Point Broadband Acquisition, LLC (Point Broadband Acquisition or the Company) was formed 
on March I 0, 2021 as a Delaware limited liabi li ty company by GTCR, a leading private equity 
firm and ultimate parent of Point Broadband Acquisition. Point Broadband Acquisition was 
formed by GTCR for the purpose of enacting the acquisition of Point Broadband Fiber Holding, 
LLC (Point Broadband Fiber) on October I. 202 I. Point Broadband Acqu isition's business 
operations are conducted through this wholly owned subsidiary. 

Point Broadband Fiber is an internet service provider (ISP) serving residential and commercial 
customers and government ent ities in mainly rural and suburban reg ions of the United States. The 
Company offers internet and voice services in all its markets and in two of its markets also provides 
video services. The Company's operations are focused in the Mid-Atlantic region , as well as the 
Southeast, Mid west, upstate New York and Texas. The Company was incorporated in 2016 and is 
based in Opelika, Alabama. 

The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of Point Broadband Intermediate, LLC and Point 
Broadband Intermediate, LLC is a wholly owned subsidiary of Point Broadband Holdings, LLC. 

Bas is of Presentation 

Predecessor 

On October I, 202 1, Point Broadband Acquisition acquired Point Broadband Fiber. The results of 
operations for the period January I, 202 1 to September 30, 2021 represent those of Point 
Broadband Fiber prior to the acqu isition. The results for this period represent the Predecessor 
financial statements. 

Successor 

On October I, 2021, Point Broadband Acquisition acquired I 00% of the equity interest in Point 
Broadband Fiber for an aggregate consideration transferred of $674,923,284 (the Acquisition). 
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Point Broadband Acquisition, LLC and Subsidiaries 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ( continued) 

1. Nature of Operations and Basis of Presentation (continued) 

Point Broadband Acquisition applied acquisition accounting gu idance under Accounting 
Standards Codification (ASC) 805, Business Combinarions. and recorded the acquired assets and 
liabilities of Point Broadband Fiber and its subsidiaries as of October I, 2021 at fair va lue. The 
consol idated cash nows and results of operations and other comprehens ive loss afte r the 
Acquisition are not comparable with those prior to the Acquisition and therefore have been 
segregated in the financial statements. The Successor financial statements represent the operations 
of Point Broadband Fiber, and its subsidiaries under the ownership of Point Broadband 
Acquisition, for the period commencing after the date of the Acquisition, or October I, 2021, to 
December 31, 202 1 and for the year ended December 31, 2022. 

The operating entities and subsidiaries of Point Broadband Fiber are as fo ll ows: 

202 1 

Point Broadband of Bainbridge. LLC (Ba inbridge) 
Point Broadband of Alabama, LLC (Opelika, JTM, or Island Fiber, Monster) 
Sunset Digital Communications, LLC 
Sunset Fiber, LLC (collectively Sunset) 
Point Broadband of the Piedmont, LLC (Hagerstown) 
Point Broadband of Ohio, LLC (Ohio) 
Casair Broadband, LLC (Casair) 
Point Broadband of Michigan, LLC (VB Fiber. West Michigan, M-33) 
Clarity Fiber Solutions, LLC (Clarity) 
Point Broadband - Cobb, LLC (NW Georgia) 
Point Services, LLC 
Point Broadband Towers, LLC 

2304-4243222 

Ownershi p 
Percentage 

100% 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
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Point Broadband Acquisition, LLC and Subsidiaries 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Consolidation and Basis of Accounting 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. 
generally accepted accounting principles (U.S. GAAP) and include the accounts of Point 
Broadband Acquisition and its whol ly owned subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and 
transactions have been eliminated. 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabi Ii ties at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues 
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. These 
estimates are based on management ' s best knowledge of current events and actions that the 
Company may undertake in the future. The more significant estimates made by management relate 
to the fair value of the net assets acquired in business combinations, goodwi ll, useful lives of long­
lived tangible and intangible assets, valuation of long-lived tangible and intangible assets, 
incremental borrowing rates for leases, and share-based compensation. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist 
principally of cash deposits. Domestic accounts are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance 
Corporation (FDIC) up to $250,000 per unique non-interest-bearing account number. The 
Company maintains its cash accounts in commercial banks, which at times may exceed federa lly 
insured limits. The Company had approximately $14,093,756 and $7,290,677 in uninsured cash 
for the years December 31 , 2021 and 2022, respectively. The Company has not experienced any 
losses in such accounts. The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an initial 
maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. The Company had no short-term 
investments at December 31 , 2022. 
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Point Broadband Acquisition, LLC and Subsidiaries 

Notes to Consolidated Fi nancial Statements ( continued) 

2. Summa ry of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Business Combinations 

The Company accounts fo r its business combinations under the acquisition method of accounting. 
The Company recognizes separately from goodwill , the identifiable assets acquired, and li abilities 
assumed based on the ir respective estimated fair values. The excess of the considerati on 
transferred over the estimated fair values of the net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. 

Financial Ins truments 

The Company's financ ial instruments include cash and cash equi va lents, acco unts rece ivable, 
accounts payable, and notes payable. The carrying amounts of cash and cash equ iva lents, accounts 
receivable, and accounts payable approx imate their fair va lues based on the ir short-term nature. 
The carrying amount of notes paya ble approximates its fa ir va lue, as interest rates approximate 
current market rates. 

Accounts Receivable, Net 

Accounts rece ivable are presented net of an allowance fo r doubtful accounts. The Company 
mainta ins an a llowance fo r doubtful accounts fo r estimated losses resu lting from the inabil ity of 
customers to make required payments and is estimated based on the aging of accounts receivable, 
industry trends and economic indicators, as well as rev iews of recent payment history fo r specific 
customers. 

Fair Value Measurements 

The Company measures assets and liabili ties requiring fa ir va lue presentation and reporting using 
an exi t price (i.e., the price that would be received to se ll an asset or paid to transfer a liabi lity) and 
disclose such amounts according to the level of valuation inputs under the fo llowing hierarchy: 

Level I - quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets that are accessible at the measurement 
date fo r assets or li abiliti es; 
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Point Broadband Acquisition, LLC and Subsidiaries 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Level 2 - quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets. inputs other than 
quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability and inputs that are derived principally 
from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means; and 

Level 3 - unobservable inputs that are significant to the fair value measurement and are used 
when little or no market data is available. 

The fa ir value hierarchy gives the highest priority to Level I inputs and the lowest priority to 
Level 3 inputs. In determining fa ir value, the Company utilizes va luation techniques that maximize 
the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs to the extent poss ib le. 

The Company measures certain assets, including property and equipment, intangible assets. and 
goodwill , at fa ir value on a nonrecurring bas is when they are deemed to be impaired. The fa ir value 
of these assets is determined with valuation techniques using the best in formation ava ilable and 
may include quoted market prices, market comparables, and discounted cash flow models. 

Share-Based Compensation 

The Company accounts for equity awards in accordance with ASC 718, Compensation - Stock 
Compensation (ASC 718). ASC 7 l 8 requires employee equity awards to be accounted fo r under 
the fa ir value method. It also requires the measurement of compensation cost at fa ir value on the 
date of grant and recognition of compensation expense over the service period fo r awards expected 
to vest. Accordingly, share-based compensation is measured at the grant date based on the fa ir 
va lue of the award. The Company uses the straight-line method to recogni ze share-based 
compensation over the service period of the award, which is generally equal to the vesting period. 
See Note 15 for further discussion regarding the fa ir va lue of the Company's share-based 
compensati on. 
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Point Broadband Acquisition, LLC and Subsidiaries 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

2. Summary of S ignificant Accounting Po licies (continued) 

Property and Equipment and Deprecia tion 

Property and equipment is recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation using depreciation 
methods over estimated useful lives as follows: 

Description 

Network equipment 
Other general equipment 
Broadband equipment 
Building improvements 
Office equipment and furniture 
Software and licenses 
Vehicles 
Land 

Impairment of Long- Lived Assets 

Method 

Straight-line 
Straight-line 
Straight-line 
Straight-I ine 
Straight-I ine 
Straight-I ine 
Straight-line 
NIA 

5- 7 years 
3- 7 years 
5-7 years 

Useful Life 

Shorter of 15 years or lease term 
5-7 years 
3 years 
5- 7 years 

IA 

The Company reviews the recoverabi lity of its long-lived assets, in accordance with the provisions 
of ASC 360, Property, Plant, and Equipment (ASC 360). ASC 360 requires that long-lived assets 
be reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverabi I ity of assets is measured by comparing the 
carrying amount of an asset or asset group to future undiscounted cash nows expected to be 
generated. There was no impairment of long- lived assets recognized in the consolidated financial 
statements. 

Goodwi ll and Intang ible Assets 

Goodwill is recorded when the consideration transferred for an acquired business is greater than 
the fair value of the net identifiable assets acqu ired, and liabilities assumed. 

In accordance with ASC 350, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other (ASC 350), goodwill and other 
indefinite-lived intangible assets are assessed for impairment at least annually as of October 1, or 
more frequent ly if impairment indicators arise using a qualitative or quantitative approach. Any 
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Point Broadband Acquisition, LLC and Subsidiaries 

Notes to Consol idated Financial Statements (continued) 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

excess of the carrying amount of the reporting uni t over its fa ir value is recognized as an impairment 
loss, not to exceed the amount of goodwill ass igned to the impaired reporting unit. During th is 
assessment, management relies on a number of factors, including operating results, business plans, 
and anticipated future cash flows. The Company may use a qualitative or quantitative process to 
determine if there is an impairment. Prior to performing a quantitati ve evaluation, an assessment of 
qualitative factors may be perfo rmed to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair 
value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If it is determined that it is more likely 
than not that the carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds its fa ir va lue, the Company must 
perform a quantitative assessment to calculate the fa ir value of the reporting unit and compare to its 
carrying amount and measure an impairment loss. 

Debt Issuance Costs 

Debt issuance costs consist of the amounts paid to lenders and third parties in connection with the 
issuance of debt. Debt issuance costs are presented as a reduction to notes payable, net on the 
conso lidated balance sheets. These costs effecti vely reduce the proceeds of borrow ing, thereby 
increas ing the effective interest rate. These costs are amortized using the effective interest method 
over the borrowing term and are reported within interest expense on the conso lidated statements 
of operations and comprehensive loss. 

Leases 

On January I, 2022, the Company adopted ASC 842, Leases, with modified retrospecti ve 
application. As a resul t of the adoption of ASC 842, the Company recorded a right-of-use asset of 
$9,027,889, which represents the lease liabi lity reduced fo r deferred rent amounts of $232,449 and 
a lease li ability of $9,260,338, which represents the present va lue of remaining lease payments, 
discounted using the Company's incremental borrowing rates based on the remaining lease terms. 
The Company leases towers, office space, dark fiber, and equi pment under operating lease 
arrangements and vehic les under finance lease arrangements. Ri ght-of-use assets and lease 
I iabi I iti es fo r operating leases are recorded on the balance sheet and the related lease expense is 
recorded on a straight-line bas is over the lease term in operating expenses. Included in lease 
expense are any va riable lease payments incurred in the period that were not included in the in itial 
lease liability. For fi nancial reporting purposes, right-of-use assets held under finance leases are 
amortized over thei r estimated useful li ves on the same basis as owned assets, and leasehold 
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Point Broadband Acquisition, LLC and Subsidiaries 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ( continued) 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Po lic ies (continued) 

improvements associated with assets uti Ii zed under finance or operating leases are amortized by 
the straight-line method over the shorter of the remaining lease term or the asset' s useful li fe . 
Amortization of assets under finance leases is included in depreciation expense. Obligations under 
the finance lease arrangements are included in current portion of finance lease obl igations and 
finance lease obi igations, net of current maturities. 

The Company has elected the short-term lease recognition exemption such that the Company will 
not recognize right of use assets (RO U) or lease li abi lities for leases with a term of less than 
12 months from the commencement date. The Company e lected the short-term lease exemption 
for all classes of assets to include towers, buildings, vehicles and equipment. Our lease agreements 
do not contain any residual value guarantees. 

The Company adopted the policy election as a lessee for all classes of assets to account for each 
lease component and its related non-lease component as a single lease component. In determining 
the discount rate, the Company uses the incrementa l borrowing rate unless the rate implicit in the 
lease is readily determinable when entering into a lease as a lessee. The incremental borrowing 
rate is determined based on market yields on similarly secured and similarly rated credit. 

As part of the adopt ion, the Company has elected the package of three practical expedients, which 
includes the fo llowing: an entity may elect not to reassess whether expired or existing contracts 
contain a lease under the revised definition of a lease; an entity may elect not to reassess the lease 
classification for expi red or existing leases; and an entity may elect not to reassess whether 
previously capitalized initial direct costs would qualify for capita lization. In addition, the 
Company elected the hindsight expedient, which al lows the use hindsight in assessing lease term. 
and the land easement expedient, which allowed the Company to app ly the gu idance prospectively 
at adoption for land easements on existing agreements. 

An assessment is made on or after the effective date of newly signed contracts as to whether the 
contract is, or contains, a lease at the inception of a contract. The assessment is based on: 
(I) whether the contract involves the use of a distinct identified asset; (2) whether the Company 
obtains the right to substantial ly all the economic benefit from the use of the asset throughout the 
period; and (3) whether the Company has the right to direct the use of the asset. The operating 
right-of-use asset is measured as the initial amount of the operating lease liability, plus any initial 
direct costs incurred, less any prepayments prior to commencement or lease incentives received. 
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Point Broadband Acquisition, LLC and Subs idiaries 

Notes to Consolidated Financia l Statements (continued) 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

The operating lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments, 
di scounted using the Company's secured incrementa l borrowing rate fo r the same term as the 
underlying lease unless the interest rate implicit in the lease is readily determined, then the implicit 
rate wil l be used. Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease li ability are comprised 
of the fo llowing: ( l) the fi xed noncancelable lease payments, (2) payments fo r optional renewal 
periods where it is reasonably certain the renewal period will be exercised, and (3) payments fo r 
early termination options unless it is reasonab ly ce1tain the lease will not be termi nated early. 
Va ri able lease payments based on an index or rate are initially measured using the index or rate in 
effect at lease commencement and included in the measurement of the initial lease liability. 
Additional payments based on the change in an index or rate are recorded as a period expense 
when incurred. Lease modi fications result in remeasurement of the lease liabili ty. 

Derivative [nstruments 

The Company accounts fo r deri vati ves and hedging acti vities in accordance with ASC 81 5, 
Derivatives and Hedging . The Company is exposed to certa in ri sks related to its ongoing business 
operations, primarily interest rate risk. During 2022, an interest rate cap was entered into to limi t 
a portion of the cash flow exposure associated with the Company's variable-rate term loan. The 
Company does not use any deri vati ve instruments fo r trad ing or speculative purposes. 

As required by ASC 8 I 5, the fa ir va lue of the Company' s interest rate cap is reported as an asset 
or liability on the balance sheet. The Company has accounted fo r the interest rate cap using the 
mark-to-market approach and the gain or loss on the deri vati ve is reported in Other (income) 
expense, net in the conso lidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. See Note 11 fo r 
fu rther discuss ion regarding the fa ir va lue of the Company's interest rate cap. 
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Point Broadband Acquisition, LLC and Subsidiaries 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ( continued) 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Revenue Recognition 

The Company earns most of its revenue from contracts with customers, primarily through the 
provision of internet, voice, and video serv ices. 

The Company also earns regulatory revenue from governmental grant payments under the Connect 
America Fund Phase II (CAF 11) and the Rural Digital Opportunity Fund (ROOF) federa l 
programs, neither of which are accounted for under ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers. These programs wi 11 provide financial support to the Company over the course of ten 
years in return for the Company's commitment to make high-speed broadband avai lable to 
households in underserved localities within six years. Funds are received under both these 
programs in equal monthly installments and are recognized as revenue when received. The funds 
received under these programs are reported as ''Regulatory Revenue" under the consolidated 
statements of operations and comprehensive loss. 

The Company also receives grant payments from various state and local authorities for the 
expansion of broadband access to unserved and underserved areas. The funds from these state and 
local grants are received as reimbursement for approved and incurred capital expenditures and are 
recognized in Other (income) expense, net. For the periods from October I to December 31 , 2021 
(Successor) and January I to September 30, 2021 (Predecessor), funds received under these grants 
totaled $537,749 and $4,749,294, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2022, funds 
received under these grants totaled $26,180,899. 

The Company recognizes revenue when it satisfies a performance obligation by transferring 
control of goods and serv ices to a customer. 

The Company provides internet, voice, and video serv ices to residential and commercial 
customers. Residential customers are provided services on a month-to-month basis and are billed 
monthly. Commercial customer contract terms vary from month to month up to 60 months, and 
the majority are billed monthly. The Company offers discounts to customers who bundle additional 
services with broadband. All revenue is recognized when services are provided to the customer, 
irrespective of the billing period. 
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Point Broadband Acquisition, LLC and Subsidiaries 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ( continued) 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

The Company evaluates whether it has an enforceable contract with a customer. An enforceable 
contract states the contractual terms, including the parties' rights and the payment terms related to 
the goods and services to be transferred; and there is the ability and intention to pay the Company 
for the contracted product or service. The Company also evaluates if a contract has multiple 
promises and if each promise should be accounted for as separate performance obligations or as a 
single performance obi igation. Multiple promises in a contract are typica lly separated if they are 
distinct, both individua lly and in the context of the contract. 

Performance obi igations are satisfied either over time or at a point in time. The appropriate 
measure of progress for revenue recognition is based on the nature of the performance obligation 
and other pertinent contract terms. 

Contract Costs 

The Company pays sales commissions to its employees for the execution of a contract and contract 
renewals. Sales commiss ions represent "costs to obtain a contract," as they meet the criteria in 
ASC 340-40, Contracts with Customers (Other Assets and Deferred Costs) . Sales commissions 
are incrementa l costs to obtaining a contract as the costs would not be incurred if the contract was 
not executed. Further, the Company expects to recover these costs through the gross margin earned 
on the sale of its services. 

Any commissions related to residential customers are expensed when incurred per the practical 
expedient present in ASC 340-25-4 which states that costs related to contracts with a duration of 
one year or less may be expensed as incurred. All residentia l customers are on month-to-month 
contracts. The commiss ion plan related to commercial customers is based off of a specific contract 
type and length for each successful new contract with a customer as well as renewal contracts with 
current customers. Service upgrades for commercial customers are also e li gible for commissions. 

Company contracts for commercial customers often contain renewal options or provisions that 
may be automatic or elective. Commissions paid for renewals are much lower than the initial 
commission for new customers and therefore, commissions are not commensurate during the entire 
contract period. inclusive of renewals. As a result, commissions costs are amortized over the 
average customer life of commercial customers. The Company used current historical information 
to estimate the average life of its customers. The Company evaluated initial contract start dates, 
and how long they have been customers. 
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Point Broadband Acquisition, LLC and Subsidiaries 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

2. Summary of S ignificant Accountin g Policies (continued) 

Based on thi s analysis, the Company amortizes commissions costs related to new contracts over 
the average customer li fe of seven years. Management will continue to monitor and update this 
average customer li fe on an annual basis as more histori cal data is coll ected. Management a lso 
rev iews contract assets annually to assess whether any im pairment is necessary. 

Advertising Costs 

The Company expenses advertising costs as they are incurred. For the periods from October I to 
December 31, 202 1 (Successor) and January I to September I, 202 1 (Predecessor), advertising 
costs tota led $342,781 and $620,63 I respective ly. For the year ended December 31, 2022 
advertising costs tota led $ 1,257,238 and are included in selling, general and administrative 
expenses in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. 

rn come Taxes 

The Company is treated as a partnership for federa l and state income tax purposes, with income 
taxes payable by the members. Accordingly, no provision has been made in these fi nancial 
statements fo r federal and state income taxes fo r the Company. As a limited li ability company, 
each member's liab ili ty is limited to amounts renected in their respecti ve member's equi ty 
accounts in accordance with the Limi ted Liability Company Agreement. The income allocable to 
each member is subject to examinati on by federal and state taxing authorities. In the event of an 
examination of the income tax returns, the tax liabili ty of the members could be changed if an 
adjustment in the income is ultimately determined by the taxing authorities. Certa in transactions 
of the Company may be subject to accounting methods fo r income tax purposes that differ 
signi ficantl y from the accounting methods used in preparing the consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with generall y accepted accounting principles. Accordingly, the taxable income of 
the Company reported fo r income tax purposes may differ from net income in these conso lidated 
financial statements. 
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Point Broadband Acquisition, LLC and Subsidiaries 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements 

In June 20 16, the F ASB issued ASU No. 2016-1 3, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses 
([opic 326): Measurement o,f Credit l osses on Financial Instruments. The ASU includes changes 
to the accounting and measurement of financial assets, including the Company's accounts 
receivab le, by requiring the Company to recogni ze an allowance fo r all expected losses over the 
li fe of the financial asset at orig ination. This is different from the current practice where an 
allowance is not recognized until the losses are considered probable. The ASU also changes the 
way cred it losses are recognized fo r ava ilable-for-sale debt securi ties. Credi t losses are recognized 
through the recording of an allowance rather than as a write-down of the carrying va lue. The 
guidance is e ffective fo r the Company beginning January I, 2023. Upon adoption, the ASU will 
be applied using a modifi ed retrospecti ve transition method to the beginning of the earli est period 
presented. A prospecti ve transition approach is requi red fo r debt securiti es fo r which another-than­
temporary impairment had been recognized before the effecti ve date. We do not anti cipate this 
standard to have a material impact on the Company ' s financial statements. 

In ovember 202 1, the FASB issued ASU No. 202 1-1 0. Government Assistance ([opic 832): 
Disclosures by Business Entities about Government Assistance (ASU 202 1-1 0), which requ ires 
annual disc losures ( e.g., terms and conditions, accounting treatment, impacted financial statement 
lines), in the notes to the financial statements, about transactions with a government that are 
accoun ted for by applying a grant or contribution accounting model by analogy to other guidance. 
The Company adopted ASU 202 1-10 effective for the annual reporting period ended December 31, 
2022, as requ ired, under prospecti ve appl ication, with no required updates to our disclosures. 

Change in Accounting Principle 

During 2022, the Company voluntari ly changed the date of the annual goodwill impai rment test 
from December 31 to October I. This vo luntary change is preferable under the circumstances as it 
provides the Company with additional time to complete its annual goodwill impairment testi ng in 
advance of its yea r-end reporting and results in bener ali gnment with the timing of the Company' s 
annual strateg ic planning and fo recasting process. The vo luntary change in accounting principle 
related to the annual testing date wil l not delay, accelerate or avo id an impairment charge. 
Retrospective application of thi s accounting change to prior peri ods is impracticable as the 
Company is unable to objecti ve ly determine, without the use of hinds ight, the signifi cant 
assumptions and estimates that would be used in those earlier peri ods. Accord ingly, the change 
will be applied prospecti ve ly. 
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Point Broadband Acquisition, LLC and Subsidiaries 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

3. Business Combinations 

Point Broadband Fiber Holding, LLC Acqu isition 

On March 12, 2021 , a Membership Interest Purchase Agreement (the Point Broadband Purchase 
Agreement) was entered into between Point Broadband Acquisition (the Buyer) - whol ly owned 
subsidiary of Point Broadband Holdings, Point Broadband, LLC, a Georgia limited liabi lity 
company (Parent), Point Broadband Capital , LLC, a Delaware limited liabi lity company (the 
Seller), Point Broadband Fiber Holding, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the 
Company, and together with Parent and Seller, the Sel ler Parties). Through the Point Broadband 
Purchase Agreement, the Seller Parties agreed to transfer al I ownership in the Company to the 
Buyer. Collect ive ly this represents "The Acquisition,'· wh ich closed on October I , 202 1. 

The total purchase consideration was $674,923,284, comprised of $482,047,875 in cash, 
$136,079,159 in funded indebtedness (o ld debt that was paid-off at closing), $53,846,250 in 
rollover equity, and $2,950,000 in add itional equity that was issued as a resu lt of the JTM 
Broadband, LLC and Camp Fox, LLC Acquisitions (discussed below). See Note I 0, otes 
Payable, fo r discussion on the third-party debt that was entered into during the Acquisition. 
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Point Broadband Acquisition, LLC and Subsidiaries 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

3. Business Combinations (continued) 

The excess of the purchase price over the net assets acquired was a l located to goodwil I. The 
Company recorded $332,685,399 of goodwil l on the December 31 , 2021 consolidated balance 
sheet. The fo llowing table summarizes the purchase price consideration and the fair values of net 
assets recorded by the Company at the acquisition date: 

Tota l contributions 
Cash, net 
Funded indebtedness 
Rollover equity 
Additional equity 
Total consideration 

Net assets acquired 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Accounts receivable 
Other current assets 
Property and equipment 
Other non-current assets 
Intangible assets 
Goodwill 
Total assets 

Net li abilities assumed 
Accounts payable 
Other current liabilities 
Unearned revenue 
Other long-term I iabi I ities 
Total liabilities assumed 
Total net assets acquired 

2304-424 3222 

$ 482,047,875 
136,079,159 
53,846,250 
2,950,000 

$ 674,923,284 

$ 7,348,588 
1,255.389 
1,893,022 

220,573,368 
7,006,626 

133, I 00,000 
332,685.399 
703,862,392 

(8,379,835) 
(10,756,039) 

(2,604,696) 
(7,198,538) 

(28,939, 108) 
$ 674,923,284 
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Point Broadband Acquisition, LLC and Subsidiaries 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

3. Business Combinations (continued) 

Intangible assets acqu ired cons ist of customer relationships of$ IO 1,500,000 and trade names of 
$31,600,000. Trade Names are amortized on a straight- line basis over their useful lives of 15 years, 
while Customer Re lationships are amortized on a straight-line basis over their useful lives of 5 
years. Refer to Note 6 for further detai ls on these intangible assets. Goodwill is related to the 
application of purchase accounting on the Company's financial statements and represents the 
synergistic benefits available through GTCR's management to accelerate and expand the business. 
Buy-side transaction expenses totaled $10,243,627 and were recorded in the consolidated 
statement of operations within Other (income) expense, net for the period ended December 31 , 
202 1. 

The disclosure above inc ludes the fair value of assets acquired under other acquisitions during the 
year ended December 3 1, 2021. The Company completed the acquisitions of Camp Fox, LLC 
(d/b/a Island Fiber) and JTM Broadband, LLC on October I, 2021. See below for further detail on 
those acquisit ions. 

Camp Fox, LLC (d/b/a Island Fiber) Acquisition 

On August 23, 202 1, an Asset Purchase Agreement (the Island Fiber Asset Purchase Agreement) 
was entered into between Point Broadband Fiber Holding, LLC, a Delaware li mited liability 
company (the Buyer) and Is land Fiber, an Alabama limited liabil ity company (the Seller). Through 
the Purchase Agreement, the Seller agreed to transfer al I ownership in the assets of the Seller to 
the Buyer. Collectively this represents the Island Fiber Acquisition, which closed on October I , 
2021. 

Point Broadband Fiber acquired the assets of the Sel ler for $5,500,000, plus working 
capital/closing adjustments. The Island Fiber Acquisition was funded by $5,200,000 of cash on 
hand from Point Broadband Fiber, as well as $300,000 of consideration in rollover equity. 

2304-4243222 22 



Point Broadband Acquisition, LLC and Subsidiaries 

Notes to Consolidated F inancial Statements (continued) 

3. Business Combinations (continued) 

The fo llowing table summarizes the purchase price consideration and the fa ir values of net assets 
recorded by the Company at the acq ui sition date: 

Tota l contributions 
Cash consideration 
Rollover equity 
Cash adjustment 
Working capital adjustment 
Total consideration 

Tangible assets 
Cash 
Working capital 
Property and equipment 
Other net assets 
Net tangible assets 

Intangible assets 
Trade name 
Customer relationships 
Goodwill 
Net intangib le assets 
Tota l net assets acq uired 

JTM Broadband, LLC Acquis ition 

$ 5,200,000 
300,000 

7,000 
74,000 

$ 5,581,000 

$ 7.000 
89.000 

1,794,000 
26,000 

1,9 16.000 

20,000 
600,000 

3,045,000 
3,665,000 

$ 5,581.000 

On August 20, 202 1, an Asset Purchase Agreement (the .JTM Asset Pu rchase Agreement) was 
entered into between Point Broadband Fiber Holding, LLC, a Delaware limi ted liabi lity company 
(the Buyer) and JTM Broadband LLC. a Tennessee Corporation (the Seller). Through the Purchase 
Agreement, the Seller Parti es agreed to transfer all ownership in the assets of the Seller lo the 
Buyer. Collective ly thi s represents the .ITM Acquisition, which closed on October I, 202 1. 

Po int Broadband Fiber acquired the assets of the Seller for $ 15,000,000, plus worki ng 
capital/closing adjustments. The JTM Acquisition was funded by $ 13,350,000 of cash on hand 
from Point Broadband Fiber, as well as $1,650,000 of consideration in rollover equity. 
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Point Broadband Acquisition, LLC and Subsidiaries 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

3. Bus iness Combinations (continued) 

The fo l lowing table summarizes the purchase price consideration and the fa ir values of net assets 
recorded by the Company at the acquisition date: 

Tota l contributions 
Cash consideration 
Rollover equity 
Cash adj ustment 
Working capital adjustment 
Total consideration 

Tangible assets 
Cash 
Working capital 
Property and equipment 
Other net assets 

et tangible assets 

Intangible assets 
Trade name 
Customer relationships 
Goodwil l 

et intangible assets 
Tota l net assets acquired 

West Michigan Broadband, LLC Acquisition 

$ 13,350,000 
1,650.000 

459,000 
(12 1,000) 

$ 15,338,000 

$ 459,000 
(35 ,000) 

9,456,000 
40,000 

9,920,000 

90,000 
2,160.000 
3, 168,000 
5,4 18,000 

$ 15,338,000 

On May 27, 2022, an Asset Purchase Agreement (the West Michigan Asset Purchase Agreement) 
was entered into between Point Broadband Fiber Holding, LLC, a Delaware limited li ability 
company (the Buyer) and West Michigan Broadband, LLC, a Michigan limited li ab ility company 
(the Seller). Through the Purchase Agreement, the Se ller agreed to transfer all ownership in the 
assets of the Seller to the Buyer. Collecti ve ly this represents the West Michigan Acquisition, which 
closed on .lune I 0, 2022. 
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Point Broadband Acquisition, LLC and Subsidiaries 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ( continued) 

3. Bus iness Combinations (contin ued) 

The purchase was determined to be a business combination under ASC 805, Business 
Combinations. The assets acquired and liabilities assumed were recorded at their respective fair 
values as of the date of the acquisition with the excess of the purchase price over those fair va lues 
recorded as goodwill. The determination of the fair values of the acquired assets and assumed 
liabilities required significant judgment, including estimates impacting the determination of 
estimated li ves of tangible and intangible assets, and the ca lculation of the fa ir va lue of Property 
and equipment and customer relationships. The fair values were determined considering the 
income approach, using Level 3 inputs as defined by ASC 820. 

Point Broadband Fiber Holding, LLC acquired the assets of the Seller fo r $9,302,000. plus working 
capital/c losing adjustments. The West Michigan Acquisition was funded by $5,056,238 of cash on 
hand from Point Broadband Fiber, $1,543,762 in funded indebtedness ( old debt that was paid-off 
at closing), $1,900,000 in rollover equity and $802,000 related to an earnout. 

The fo llowing table summarizes the purchase price consideration and the fair values of net assets 
recorded by the Company at the acquisition date: 

Total contributions 
Cash consideration 
Funded indebtedness 
Rollover equity 
Earnout 
Total consideration 

Tangible assets 
Property and equipment 
Working capital 

et tangible assets 

In tangible assets 
Customer relationships 
Goodwil l 
Net intangible assets 
Tota l net assets acquired 
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$ 5,056,238 
1,543,762 
1,900,000 

802,000 
$ 9,302.000 

$ 5,357,081 
{4 I ,08 I 2 

5.3 16,000 

1,020,000 
2,966,000 
3,986,000 

$ 9,302,000 
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Point Broadband Acquisition, LLC and Subsidiaries 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ( continued) 

3. Business Combinations (continued) 

Intangible assets acqu ired consist of customer re lationships that have a useful life of 5 years. No 
residual va lue is ass igned to the acquired customer relationships and are amortized on a stra ight­
line basis. 

The West Michigan acquisition resulted in the recognition of $2,966,000 of goodwill , which is not 
deductible fo r tax purposes. Goodwill is related to the application of purchase accounting on the 
Company's fi nancial statements and represents the synergistic benefits available to acce lerate and 
expand the business. Buyer transaction expenses tota led $25,992 and were recorded on the 
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss within Other (income) expense, net 
fo r the peri od ended December 3 1, 2022. 

Monster Broadband, Inc. Acq uis ition 

On November 11 , 2022, an Asset Purchase Agreement (the Monster Asset Purchase Agreement) 
was entered into between Point Broadband Fiber Holding, LLC, a Delaware limited li ability 
company (the Buyer) and Monster Broadband. Inc., a Tennessee corporati on (the Se ll er). Through 
the Purchase Agreement, the Seller agreed to transfer all ownership in the assets of the Seller to 
the Buyer. Co ll ecti vely thi s represents the Monster Acquisition, which closed on November 14, 
2022. 

The purchase was determined to be a business combination under ASC 805, Business 
Combinations. The assets acquired and li abilities assumed were recorded at their respecti ve fair 
values as of the date of the acquisition with the excess of the purchase price over those fa ir va lues 
recorded as goodwil l. The determination of the fa ir values of the acquired assets and assumed 
li abilities required significant judgment, inc luding estimates impacting the determination of 
estimated li ves of tangible and intangible assets, and the ca lculation of the fa ir value of Prope1ty 
and equipment and customer re lationships. The fa ir values were determined considering the 
income approach, using Level 3 inputs as defined by ASC 820. 

Point Broadband Fiber Holding, LLC acquired the assets of the Seller fo r $ I 0,462,744, plus 
working capital/closing adjustments. The Monster Acquisition was funded by $5,81 2, l 00 of cash 
on hand from Point Broadband Fiber, $ 1,6 10,478 in funded indebtedness (o ld debt that was paid­
off at clos ing), $ 1,877, 166 in rollover equity and $ l , 163,000 related to an earnout. 
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Point Broadband Acquisition, LLC and Subsidiaries 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

3. Bus iness Combinations (continued) 

The following table summarizes the purchase price consideration and the fair values of net assets 
recorded by the Company at the acquis ition date: 

Total contributions 
Cash consideration 
Funded indebtedness 
Rollover equity 
Ea rnout 
Total consideration 

Tangible assets 
Property and equipment 
Notes payable 
Working capita l 
Total assets 

Intangible assets 
Customer relationships 
Goodwill 
Net intangible assets 
Total net assets acquired 

$ 5,812,100 
1,610,478 
1,877, 166 
I, 163.000 

$ 10,462,744 

$ 3,368,750 
(36,088) 

( I 00,000} 
3,232,662 

3,410,000 
3,820,082 
7,230,082 

$ I 0,462,744 

Intangib le assets acquired consist of customer relationships and have a useful life of 5 years. No 
residual value is assigned to the acqu ired customer relationships and are amortized on a straight­
line basis. 

The Monster acquisition resulted in the recognition of $3,820.082 of goodwill, which is not 
deductible for tax purposes. Goodwill is related to the application of purchase accounting on the 
Company's financial statements and represents the synergistic benefits avai lable to accelerate and 
expand the business. Buyer transaction expenses totaled $10,30 I and were recorded on the 
consolidated statements of operations and con1prehensive loss within Other (income) expense, net 
for the period ended December 31, 2022. 
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Point Broadband Acquisition, LLC and Subsidiaries 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

3. Business Combinations (continued) 

Customer Software, Inc. Acq uisition 

On November 23, 2022, an Asset Purchase Agreement (the M-33 Asset Purchase Agreement) was 
entered into between Point Broadband Fiber Holding, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company 
(the Buyer) and Custom Software, Inc. (M-33), a Colorado corporation (the Seller). Through the 
Purchase Agreement, the Sel ler Parties agreed to transfer al l ownership in the assets of the Seller 
lo the Buyer. Collectively this represents the M-33 Acquisition, which closed on November 30, 
2022. 

The purchase was determined to be a business combination under ASC 805. Business 
Combinations. The assets acquired and liabil ities assumed were recorded at their respective fair 
values as of the date of the acquisition with the excess of the purchase price over those fair values 
recorded as goodwill. The determ ination of the fair values of the acquired assets and assumed 
liabilities required significant judgment, including estimates impacting the determination of 
estimated lives of tangible and intangible assets, and the calculation of the fair value of Property 
and equipment and customer relationships. The fair values were determined considering the 
income approach. using Level 3 inputs as defined by ASC 820. 

Point Broadband Fiber Holding. LLC acquired the assets of the Seller for $5,4 15,000, plus working 
capital/closing adjustments. The M-33 Acquisition was funded by $2,994,979 of cash on hand 
from Point Broadband Fiber, $955,021 in funded indebtedness (old debt that was paid-off at 
closing), $1,000,000 of consideration in rollover equ ity and $465,000 related to an earnout. 
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Point Broadband Acquisition, LLC and Subsidiaries 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ( continued) 

3. Business Combinations (continued) 

The fo ll owing table summarizes the purchase price consideration and the fa ir values of net assets 
recorded by the Company at the acquisition date: 

Tota l contributions 
Cash consideration 
Funded indebtedness 
Rollover equity 
Earnout 
Total consideration transferred 

Tangible assets 
Property and equipment 
Working capital 

et tangible assets 

In tangible assets 
Customer re lationships 
Goodwi ll 
Net intangible assets 
Total net assets acq uired 

$ 2,994,979 
955,021 

1,000,000 
465,000 

$ 5,4 15,000 

$ 4,371 ,636 
{155,6362 

4,216,000 

600,000 
599,000 

I , 199,000 
$ 5,4 15,000 

Intangib le assets acquired consist of customer relationships and have a useful life of 5 years. No 
res idual value is assigned to the acquired customer relationships and are amortized on a straight­
line basis. 

The M-33 acquisition resulted in the recognition of $599,000 of goodwil l, which is not deductible 
fo r tax purposes. Goodwill is related to the application of purchase accounting on the Company's 
financial statements and represents the synergistic benefits ava ilable to accelerate and expand the 
business. Buyer transaction expenses tota led $5,0 IO and were recorded on the consolidated 
statements of operations and comprehensive loss within Other (income) expense, net fo r the period 
ended December 31, 2022. 
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Point Broadband Acquisition, LLC and Subsidiaries 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

4. Revenue Recognition 

Disaggregation of Revenue 

The table be low presents revenue disaggregated by revenue stream: 

For the For the 
Period From Period From 

For the Year October J to January 1 to 
Ended December 31 , September 30, 

December 31, 2021 2021 
2022 {Successor} {Predecessor} 

C ustomer revenue: 
Internet $ 6 1,49 1,129 $ 13,087,329 $ 34, 15 1,760 
Voice 4,340,369 1,7 15,29 1 5,342,682 
Video 6,838,632 1,407,57 1 5,268,977 
Other 3, 143 ,904 86 1,463 2,876,9 18 

Regulato ry revenue 13,528,85 1 3,382,2 13 4,9 19,0 10 
$ 89,342,885 $ 20,453,867 $ 52,559,347 

A perfo rmance obligation is a promise in a contract to transfer a distinct good or service to the 
customer. T he transacti on price is a llocated to each distinct perfo rmance obligation and recognized 
as revenue when, or as, the perfo rmance obi igati on is sati sfi ed. T he Company enters into contracts 
with customers th at will sometimes inc lude promises to de liver mul tiple serv ices whi ch may be 
capable of be ing distinct and di stinct within the context of the contract. Thus, they can be 
accounted for as separa te perfo rmance obligations. Determining whether services are perfo rmance 
obi igations often requires the exerc ise of judgment by management. If a contrac t contains more 
than one perfo rmance obligation, the transaction price is a llocated to each pe rfo rmance obligation 
based on the re lative standa lone selling price of the respective promised good or service. 

A ll service revenue is satisfied over-time while commerc ia l insta ll ation revenue is satisfied at a 
point in time, as insta llation is considered a separate performance obligation fo r commerc ia l 
customers. For the periods from Octobe r I to December 3 1. 202 1 (S uccessor) and January I to 
September 30, 202 1 (Predecessor), commerc ia l insta llation revenue tota led $48,463 and $225,000, 
respectively. For the year ended December 3 1, 2022, commerc ia l insta ll ation revenue tota led 
$282,6 1 t. T he perfo rmance obligati on is satis fied once installation is complete, at which point 
revenue is recogn ized . 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

4. Revenue Recognition (continued) 

Determining the Transaction Price 

Revenue is recognized based on the transaction price, which is measured as the amount of 
consideration the Company expects to receive in exchange for transfer of service to a customer. 
When determining the transaction price, the Company estimates variable consideration to the 
extent that it is probable that a significant amount of cumulative revenue will not be reduced in the 
future. 

Measure of Progress 

The nature of the Company's monthly recurring and non-recurring revenue directly corresponds 
with the value to the customer for any given monthly period and thus the Company has concluded 
the output method is the most appropriate for recognizing its revenue. All serv ice (phone, internet, 
cable) revenue streams are measured by the output method because the amounts on the stated 
invoices directly correspond to the value of the performance obl igation provided at the stated 
contractual rate. 

Principal vs. Agent Considerations 

The Company evaluates whether it promises to transfer serv ices to the customer (as the principal) 
or to arrange for services to be provided by another party (as the agent) using a control model. 
Based on the evaluation of the control model , the Company determined it acts as the principal 
within the business model rather than as an agent with in the revenue arrangements. 

Costs to Obtain and Fulfill a Contract 

The Company capitalizes certain costs to obta in and fulfi ll a new contract and contract renewals. 
These costs primarily relate to sales commissions on commercial customers that are related to the 
execution of customer contracts. These capitalized costs related to commercial contracts are 
amortized on a straight-line basis over the average customer life, which is seven years. 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

5. Goodwill 

Beginning balance - December 31 , 2021 
Goodwill recorded 

Ending balance - December 31 , 2022 

$332,685,399 
7,3 85,082 

$340,070,481 

Goodwil l recorded in the consolidated balance sheet totaled $332,685,399 and $340,070,481 at 
December 31 , 2021 (Successor) and December 31 , 2022, respectively. At October I, 2022, the 
Company performed a quantitative assessment of its goodwi ll. Based on the assessment, the 
Company' s enterprise value exceeded the carrying value and no goodwi ll impairment was 
recognized in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss 

6. In tangible Assets, Net 

Intangible assets at December 31 , included the following: 

2022 2021 

Useful 
Lives Gross Gross 

Carrying Accumulated Ncl Carrying Carrying Accumulmcd Net Carrying 
Amount A monizal ion Amount Amourn Amort1zauon Amount 

15 
Trade name years $31 ,600,000 $(2,633,333) $28,966,667 $3 1,600,000 $(526,667) $31 ,073,333 
Customer 
relattonsh1es 5 tears l 06.530.000 (25,618,775) 80,9 11 ,225 IO I .500,000 (5.Q75,000) 96,425,000 
Tomi 11uangiblc 
assets $ 138,130,000 $(28.252.108) $109,877.892 $133.100,000 $(5.601,667) 127,498,333 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

6. Intangible Assets, Net (continued) 

Amortization expense related to intangible assets for the period from January I to September 30. 
2021 (Predecessor) totaled $5,872,169. Amo11ization expense related to intangibles totaled 
$5,601 ,667 and $22,650,442 for the period from October I, 2021 to December 31 , 202 1 
(Successor) and December 3 1, 2022, respective ly. 

The fol lowing table summarizes the future aggregate amortization expense of the Company's 
intangible assets with finite lives: 

For the years ending December 31: 
2023 
2024 
2025 
2026 
2027 
Thereafter 

Total 

$ 23,4 12,667 
23,4 12,667 
23,412,667 
18,337,667 
2,868.891 

18,433,333 
$ l 09,877,892 

o impairment indicators were identified fo r the period ended December 31 , 2022. 
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Notes to Consolidated F inancial Statements (continued) 

7. Property and Equipment, Net 

Below are the major classes of property and equipment as of December 31: 

Network equipment 
Other genera l equipment 
Video and broadband equipment 
Building improvements 
Office equipment and furniture 
Software and licenses 
Vehicles 
Construction-in-process 
Construction materials 
Land 
Total property and equipment 
Less: Accumu lated depreciation 
Property and equipment, net 

2022 

$247,769, 103 
115,711 ,423 

19.224,621 
3,653,462 

998,037 
3,767,584 
5,902,815 

34.773,577 
14,294,402 

2 17,837 
442,396, 149 
(54,419,60 I) 

$ 391,893,260 

2021 

$ 187,047,9 12 
17,562,852 
4,708,535 
3,623,0 12 

357, 175 
3,281 ,542 
2,664,108 

14,294,402 
25,747,569 

217,837 
259,504,944 
( I 1,280,450) 

$ 248,224,494 

Depreciation expense for the periods from October I to December 31 , 2021 (Successor) and 
January I to September 30, 2021 (Predecessor), totaled $ I 1,280,450 and $ 15,854,953, 
respectively. Depreciation expense fo r the period ended December 31, 2022 tota led $43, 145,269. 
Amortization of assets recorded under finance leases is included in depreciation expense. 

8. Related-Party Transactions 

The Company received certain chaplain services and insurance brokerage serv ices during the 
predecessor period from a shareholder, ITC Capital Partners, LLC. The Company also charged the 
shareholder for certain HR and legal services performed. The expenses are recorded at amounts 
invoiced for the services provided and were payable quarterly. Total expenses related to services 
received from the shareholder for the period from January I to September 30, 2021 (Predecessor) 
was $27,864. Tota l income from services provided to the shareholder for the same peri od was 
$46,008. Following the acqu isition by GTCR (Note 3), ITC Capital Partners, LLC was no longer 
considered a related party . 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

8. Related-Party Transactions (continued) 

Additional ly, the Company also pays rent to certain employees and spouses of employees. The 
Company also receives professional and other services from certain employees and members and 
pays some of these related parties for insta llation and network maintenance related activities as 
wel l. Expenses related to these members and employees totaled $500,896 fo r the period from 
October I to December 3 1, 202 1 (Successor) and $698,414 for the period from January I to 
September 30, 2021 (Predecessor). Expenses related to these members and employees totaled 
$1,608,404 for the period ended December 31, 2022, respective ly. 

9. Accrued Liab ilities 

Accrued liabilities cons ists of the fo llowing as of December 3 1: 

2022 2021 

Accrued interest $ 9,416,952 $ 6,694,527 
Accrued payroll 1.432,289 771 ,700 
Accrued taxes 515,109 571,987 
Accrued earnout provision 2,959,774 712,2 13 
Accrued equipment purchases 19,080.607 6,905,024 
Total accrued li abil ities $ 33,404,731 $ 15,655,451 

The prior period acqu isitions of Crystal Automation Systems, Inc. (Casair) on September I, 2020, 
and Hagerstown Fiber Internet, LLC (Hagerstown) on January 3 1, 2020 by Point Broadband Fiber, 
included earnout payments to the se llers at a future point in time if certain performance metrics 
were achieved. The Company recorded fair value adjustments related to any changes in fair value 
between measurement periods. The Company did not recognize a liabi li ty for these earnout 
provisions as of December 31, 2020. An adjustment was made during 202 1 to recognize the fair 
value of the earnout I iabi I ity for both entities as of December 3 I, 2020. 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

9. Accrued Liabi lities (continued) 

The Casair acquisition included an earnout provision whereby the Company would make two 
additional payments contingent on the perfo rmance of the acquired company. The Company 
calculates the earnout amounts within 60 days following the one-year and two-yea r anniversary of 
the c losing date. The fair market value of the earnout obligation is based on significant inputs not 
observable in the market (Leve l 3 fa ir value inputs), including fo recasted earnings before interest, 
taxes, depreciati on and amorti zation (EBITDA). These fa ir value measurements are directl y 
impacted by the Company's estimates. The year one payout was made in October 202 1, fo r a total 
amount of $2,22 1,386. The year two payout was made in October 2022, fo r a total amount of 
$954,676. As of December 31 , 2022, the earnout liability balance related to the Casair acquisition 
is zero. 

The Hagerstown acquisition inc luded an earnout provision whereby the Company would have to 
make an additional payment contingent on the net increase in incrementa l subscribers installed and 
added to the fiber network that exists as of the Clos ing Date (current passings) through a minimum 
of 18 months after Clos ing. The earnout shall be payable after the closing date on the later of, 
( I ) the date when I 0% subscriber penetration rate has been obtained on an incremental 15,000 
passings constructed post-acquisition, (2) the 18-month anniversary of the clos ing date. Based on 
current build plans, the Company expects the incremental 15,000 pass ings will be fully constructed 
by April of 2023. The fair market va lue of the earnout obligation is based on significant inputs not 
observable in the market (Level 3 fair value inputs), including fo recasted subscriber penetration 
rates . The Company recorded fa ir value adjustments re lated to any changes in fa ir va lue between 
measurement periods. 

The West Michigan acquisition included an earnout provision whereby the Company is required 
to make an additional payment contingent upon the Company ( I ) achiev ing 3,800 serviceable fiber 
pass ings and (2) serving 2.850 fiber customers. The earnout is required to be paid within 30 days 
of achiev ing the described targets. Based on current estimates, the Company expects the ta rgets 
will be met by November of 2025. The fa ir market va lue of the ea rnout obligati on is based on 
significant inputs not observable in the market (Level 3 fa ir va lue inputs), including fo recasted 
subscriber penetration rates. The Company considers fair value adjustments re lated to any changes 
in fair value between measurement periods. There was no fair value adjustment recorded as there 
were no significant changes to the earnout targets from the acquisition date on June I 0, 2022 to 
December 3 1, 2022. As of December 3 1. 2022, the earnout li ab ility balance related to the West 
Michigan acquisition was $802,000. 
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9. Accrued Liabilities (con tinued) 

The Monster acquisition included an earnout provision whereby the Company is required to make 
an add itiona l payment of no greater than $1,336,860 and no less than $400,000, contingent upon 
the amount of backhaul reductions achieved in the six months fo ll owing the acq uisition. The first 
installment of the earnout, in the amount of $400,000, was expected to be paid on February 14, 
2023, wh ile the remaining balance will be paid on May 15, 2023. The February 2023 milestone 
was not reached. The fa ir market value of the ea rnout obligation is based on significant inputs not 
observable in the market (Level 3 fair va lue inputs), including fo recasted backhaul reductions. The 
Company considers fair value adjustments related to any changes in fair value between 
measurement periods. There was no fair value adjustment recorded as there were no significant 
changes to the earnout targets from the acquisition date on November 14, 2022 to December 31, 
2022. As of December 31, 2022, the earnout liability balance related to the Monster acquisition 
was$ I, 163.000. 

The M-33 acq uisition included an earnout provision whereby the Company is required to make an 
additional payment of $500,000 on the latter of May 3 1, 2023, or once the Company has added 
four hundred fiber customers to its ex isting network as of the date of acqu isition. Based on current 
est imates, the Company expects the target will be met by September of 2023. The fair market va lue 
of the earnout obligation is based on significant inputs not observable in the market (Level 3 fair 
value inputs), inc luding forecasted subscriber penetration rates. There was no fa ir va lue adjustment 
recorded as there were no significant changes to the earnout targets from the acquisition date on 
November 30, 2022 to December 31, 2022. As of December 31, 2022, the ea rnout liabili ty balance 
related to the M-33 acquisition was $465.000. 

The change in fair value and payment fo r earnouts is as fo llows: 

Casair ea rnout - Beginning balance - December 3 1, 2020 
Change in fair va lue 

Ending ba lance - September 30, 202 1 
Payment on October 26, 202 1 
Change in fair value 

Ending balance - December 3 I , 202 1 
Change in fa ir va lue 
Payout on October 31, 2022 

Ending balance - December 31, 2022 
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$ 6,296.580 
(3.684,2432 
2,612,337 

(2 ,221 ,386) 
{78,734) 

$ 312,2 17 
642,459 

{954,6762 
$ 
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9. Accrued Liabil ities (contin ued) 

Hagerstown earnout - Beginning balance - December 3 1, 2020 
C hange in fa ir value 

Ending ba lance - September 30, 202 1 
Change in fa ir value 

Ending balance - December 3 1, 202 1 
Change in fa ir value 

Ending balance - December 3 1, 2022 

$ 843,082 
(429,643) 
41 3,439 
( 13,443) 

$ 399,996 
129,779 

$ 529,775 

The fa ir valL1e of the re lated earnout provisions were measured on September 30, 202 1 
(Predecessor) and December 31 , 202 1 (Successor), with a gain recorded within operating expenses 
o n the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. For the period from 
January I to September 30, 202 1 (Predecessor), the Company recorded a gain of $4, 11 3,886 
related to the change in fair value of the earnout provisions. For the period from October I, 202 1, 
to December 3 1, 202 1 (Successor), the Company recorded a gain of $92, 179 related to the change 
in fa ir value of the earnout provisions. For the year ended December 3 1, 2022, the Company 
recorded a loss o f $772,238 related to the change in fa ir value of the earnout within operating 
expenses on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

10. Notes Payable 

Notes payab le, long term consists of the following at December 31: 

2022 2021 

Virginia Tobacco Commission Loan 
Tobacco Region Revitali zation Commission 
GSO/Benefit Street Term Loans and other delayed 

draw 
Vehicle and equipment notes payable 
Less: debt issuance costs 

$ 1,500,000 $ 1,500,000 
136,000 

423 ,005,000 356,400,000 
16,453 

(9,900,930) (I 1,991 ,593) 
$ 414,620,523 $ 346,044,407 

The current portion of notes payable consists of the following at December 3 l: 

2022 

GSO/Benefit Street Term Loan $ 4,310,000 
Tobacco Region Revital ization Commission 136,000 
Vehicle and equipment notes payable 36,088 

$ 4,482,088 

As of December 31 , 2022, future maturities of debt are as fol lows: 

2023 
2024 
2025 
2026 
2027 
Thereafter 

2021 

$ 3,600,000 
136,000 

$ 3,736,000 

$ 4,482,088 
4,610,000 
4,610,000 
4,610,000 
4,610,000 

406,081 ,453 
$ 429,003,541 

Borrowings under the GSO/Benefit Street Term Loan are subject to certain financia l covenants. 
As of December 31 , 2022, the Company was in compliance with all of its covenants. 
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10. Notes Payable (continued) 

As described previously, on October I, 202 1 (the Acquisition Date). GTCR and other investors, 
through the wholly owned subsidiary, Point Broadband Acquisition, acq uired I 00% of the equity 
interest in Point Broadband Fiber, fo r a stated purchase price of $520,000,000 plus working 
capital/closing adjustments. Financing of the transaction was obtained in a Credit Agreement 
containing an Initial Term Commitment (Initial Term Loan) in an aggregate principal amount of 
$360,000,000, a Delayed Draw Term Loan Commitment (Delayed Draw Term Loan) in an 
aggregate principal amount of $ 150,000,000, a Revolving Commitment (Revolver) in an aggregate 
principa l amount of up to $50,000,000, and a Letter of Credit Commitment (LOC or Letter of 
Credit) totaling $43,750,000. At December 31, 2022, loans outstanding consisted of the Initial 
Term Loan of $356,400,000 and $70,9 15,000 of addi tional Delayed Draw Term Loans the 
Company obtained during 2022. 

The Credit Agreement (Agreement) is dated as of October I, 202 1 between Point Broadband 
Acquisition, LLC (the Borrower), Point Broad band Intermediate, LLC (Holdings) and the Lenders 
and Issuing Banks, GSO Capital Partners (GSO, Blackstone), Benefit Street Partners (Benefit 
Street) and Ally Bank (Ally) party hereto and Wilmington Trust, National Associates, as an 
Administrati ve Agent and Collateral Agent. The Agreement is secured by a blanket lien on all 
assets of the Company. 

The Company incurred debt origination costs of approximate ly $ 12,378,0 11 related to the new 
debt. Amorti zation expense related to debt issuance costs tota led $386,4 18 and $2,978,163 for the 
period from October I to December 3 I, 202 1 (Successor period) and December 31, 2022, 
respecti vely, which is recorded as within Interest Expense, net on the consolidated statements of 
operations and comprehensive loss. Amortization of debt issuance costs fo r the period from 
January I to September 30, 202 1 (Predecessor) tota led $355,957. which was associated with old 
debt that was extinguished on the Acq ui sition Date. 
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10. Notes Payable (continued) 

The Company has certain deri vative instruments, loans and investment securities indexed to 
LIBOR to calculate the loan in terest rate. ICE Benchmark Administration, the authorized and 
regulated administrator of LIBOR, ended publicati on of the one-week and two-month USO 
LIBOR tenors on December 31, 202 1, and the remaining USO LIBOR tenors will end publication 
in June 2023 . Financial services regulators and industry groups have collaborated to develop 
a lternate reference rate indices or reference rates. The transition to a new reference rate requires 
changes to contracts, risk and pricing models. valuation tools, systems, product design and hedging 
strateg ies. At this time, no consensus ex ists as to what rate or rates may become acceptab le 
alternatives to LI BOR (with the exception of overnight repurchase agreements, which are expected 
to be based on the Secured Overnight Financing Rate, or SOFR). The language in our LI BOR­
based contracts and financial instruments has developed over time and may have vari ous events 
that trigger when a successor rate to the designated rate would be selected. If a tri gger is satisfied, 
contracts and financia l instruments may give the ca lculation agent di scretion over the substitute 
index or indices fo r the calculation of interest rates to be se lected. The implementati on of a 
substitute index or indices fo r the calculation of interest rates under our loan agreements with our 
borrowers may result in our incurring significant expenses in effecting the transition, may result 
in reduced loan balances if borrowers do not accept the substitute index or indices, and may result 
in disputes or litigation with customers over the appropriateness or comparabi I ity to LI BOR of the 
substitute index or indices, which could have an ad verse effect on our resul ts of operations. At 
December 31, 2022, we had variab le rate loans indexed to LIBOR totaling $427,3 15,000. The 
Company did not have any other investments, brokered depos its or borrowings indexed to LIBOR 
as of December 31, 2022. On February 17, 2023, the Company' s cred it agreement was amended 
to replace LIBOR with Secured Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR). 

Paycheck Protection Program Loan (Predecessor) 

On March 27, 2020, Congress enacted the Coronav irus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act 
(CARES Act) which established the Paycheck Protecti on Program (the Program). The Program 
was crealed to assist small businesses in pay ing their employees and ce1tain other expenses during 
the COVID- 19 crisis. The Company applied fo r a loan under the Program and rece ived from its 
bank a loan in the amount of $ 1,657,957 on Apri l I 0, 2020. The loan is fo rgivable if the Company 
meets certa in criteria as established under the Program. The Company fi led an application fo r 
fo rgiveness on March 16, 202 1 and in June 202 1, the entire balance was fo rgiven. The Company 
recorded a gain on forg iveness of debt during the period from January I to September 30, 202 1 
which is repo1ted under other income on the consolidated statements of operalions and 
comprehensive loss within other expense, net. 
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10. Notes Payable (continued) 

CoBank Credit Agreement (Predecessor) 

Prior to the Acquisition , the Company had an outstanding credit agreement with CoBank. As part 
of the credit agreement, the Company had a combined amount outstanding on a term loan, delayed 
draw term loan, and revolving credit faci lity of $ 135,262,484. 

The Company had an available revolving loan commitment with CoBank on which it may have 
borrowed up to $20,000,000. Borrowings of $2,262,484 were outstanding on the revolving loan 
prior to the Acquisition. 

The Company had an available delayed draw term loan with CoBank on which it cou ld have 
borrowed an additional $45,000,000. Borrowings of $40,000,000 were outstand ing on the delayed 
draw term loan prior to the Acquisition. 

On October l, 2021 as part of the acquisition by Point Broadband Acquisition the entire debt to 
CoBank was paid off and the agreement was extingu ished. The net payoff amount was 
$135,986,850, which included a payment of $ 135,262,484 for principal, $43, 148 for interest and 
breakage, $536,000 for obligations pursuant to a secured hedge, and $145,2 18 for a commitment 
fee. 

11. Derivative Instruments 

On January 31 , 2022, the Company entered into an interest rate cap with an effective date of 
January I, 2022 and a termination date of January I, 2024. The notional value of this cap was 
$353,700,000. This interest rate cap effectively fixed the variable interest rate on the notional 
amount of this cap at 2.5%. The Company elected to not apply hedge accounting for the interest 
rate cap and account for the interest rate cap us ing the mark-to-market approach. Therefore, the 
fair value of the cap will be carried on the balance sheet as an asset or liability and any changes in 
the fa ir value of this cap are reflected in the consolidated statements of operations and 
comprehensive loss as Other (income) expense, net. 
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ll. Derivative Instruments (continued) 

The objecti ve of the interest rate cap is to eliminate variability of the Company's cash flows in the 
interest payments assoc iated with the first $353,700,000 of variab le rate debt. the source of which 
is partially due to changes in the LIBOR benchmark interest rate above the strike rate of 2.5%. 
This interest rate cap invo lved the Company paying the deri vative provider an amount of $7 12,000 
representing the fa ir value of the interest rate cap on January 3 1, 2022 in exchange for the 
deri vati ve provider pay ing the borrower the excess of the floating interest rate payment above a 
strike rate. in the event that the floating interest rate is greater than the stri ke rate during the period 
between the effective date and maturity date. 

As of December 31, 2022, the cumulati ve unrealized gain fo r the interest rate cap was reported as 
a component of Other (income) expense, net in the amount of $9, 159,343. 

The fa ir values fo r the Company 's deri vative financial instruments are determined using 
observable current market in fo rmation such as the prevailing UBOR interest rate and LI BOR yield 
curve rates and include consideration of counterparty credit risk. The fo llowing table presents the 
aggregate fa ir value of the Company's derivative instruments by balance sheet location: 

Assets 
Interest rate cap 
Tota l assets 

Balance Sheet 
Location 

Fair Value 
December 31, 

2022 

Deri vati ve Asset $ 9,87 1,343 
$9,87 1,343 

On March 3, 2023, the interest rate cap was extended to January I, 2026. The transaction was also 
amended to replace LIBOR with SOFR and the strike rate was increased from 2.5% to 4.3 1 %. 

12. Commitments and Contingencies 

The Company has pledged to guarantee letters of credit to cover reimbursement obligations issued 
to Universal Service Administrative Company related to CAF II and ROOF grants as well as to 
Empire State Development to cover New York state grants. o li ability is required to be recorded 
by the Company. The balance on the letters of credit at December 3 1. 202 1 and 2022 was 
$ 16,026,799 and $ I 7, 12 1,604, respecti vely. 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

The Company leases towers, offi ce space, dark fiber, and equipment under operating lease 
arrangements and vehicles under finance lease arrangements. 

ROU assets represent our right to use an underlying asset fo r the lease term and lease liabi lit ies 
represent our obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. ROU assets and liabilities 
are recogni zed at commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the 
expected remaining lease term. We use our incrementa l borrowing rate based on in fo rmation 
ava ilable at commencement date. Our lease terms may inc lude opti ons to extend or terminate the 
lease, which are included in the ca lculation of RO U assets when it is reasonably ce11ai11 that we 
wi 11 exerc ise those options. 

Lease expense fo r lease payments is recognized on a stra ight-line bas is over the lease term. All 
fixed lease and non-lease component payments are combined in determining the right-of-use asset 
and lease liability. We have lease agreements with lease and non-lease components, which are 
generally not accounted fo r separately. Additiona lly, fo r certa in leases, we apply a portfo lio 
approach to accoun t fo r the operating lease ROU assets and liabi lities as the leases are sim ilar in 
nature and have nearly identical contract provisions. 

The components of operating lease expense were as fo llows: 

Year Ended December 3 I, 2022 

Operating Lease Expense 2,41 5,662 
Sho11-term Lease Expense 1.1 40,862 
Variable Lease Expense 480,628 

Total operating lease expense =========4..:,',;,,03=7=·='=5===2 

The components of finance lease expense were as fo llows: 

Year Ended December 3 1, 2022 

Finance lease cost: 
Amortization of right-of-use assets 
Interest on lease liabilities 

Total finance lease cost 
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54 1.960 
88,2 19 

630, 179 
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13. Leases (continued) 

For fiscal year 2022, cash paid for leases included in our operating cash flow activities were 
$4,397,061 and our financing cash outflow activities were $508,854. Non-cash activities of ROU 
assets in exchange for lease liabilities were $11,762,482. 

Supplemental balance sheet information related to operating and finance leases is as follows: 

Operating right-of-use assets 
Operating lease liabilities (current) 
Operating lease liabilities (long-term) 

Total operating lease liabi li ties 
Finance right-of-use assets 
Finance lease liabilities (current) 
Finance lease liabi li ties (long-term) 

Total finance lease liabilities 

December 3 I, 2022 
7,909,3 I 6 

(2,055,340) 
(6,057,109) 
(8,11 2,449) 

2.793,966 
(689,083) 

(2, 154,900) 
(2,843,983) 

Maturities of lease liabilities at December 3 1, 2022 were as fo llows: 

2023 
2024 
2025 
2026 
2027 
Thereafter 

Tota l lease payments 
Less: imputed interest 

Present value of lease liabi lities 
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Finance leases 
827,005 
751,713 
689,043 
593,528 
294,922 

46,994 
3,203,205 
(359,222) 
2,843,983 

Operating leases 
2,540,870 
2,297,247 
1,690,43 1 
1,3 12,965 

596,041 
1, 149,504 

9.587,058 
( I ,474,609) 
8, 11 2,449 
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13. Leases (continued) 

Weighted average remaining lease term (years) 
Weighted average discount rate 

Weighted average remaining lease term (years) 
Weighted average discount rate 

14. Leases (prior to adoption of ASC 842) 

Financing leases 
December 31, 2022 

4.25 
5.6 1% 

Operating leases 
December 3 1, 2022 

4.62 
7.03% 

The Company leases office space and ce,tain equipment under noncancelable operating leases 
which expire at va rious dates through 2030. In add ition to the monthly payments under the leases, 
the Company is responsible fo r rea l estate taxes, insurance, maintenance. and operating costs. 
Future minimum lease payments (not including common area maintenance and taxes) under these 
lease agreements at December 3 1, 202 1 were approximate ly as fo llows: 

For the years ending: 
December 3 I, 2022 
December 3 1, 2023 
December 3 I, 2024 
December 3 1, 2025 
December 3 1, 2026 
Thereafter 

Total 

$ 1,782,823 
1,573,742 
1,468,899 

818,304 
573,494 
862,810 

$ 7,080,072 

Rent expense for the period ended December 31, 202 1. was approx imately $86 1,567. 

The Company acquired vehicles through capital lease agreements with Altec Capital and Fann 
Credit Leasing. Obligations under capital lease were recorded at the present va lue of future 
minimum lease payments using interest rates from 0% to 8.39%. The capitalized cost of 
$ 1,864,245 less accumulated depreciation of $465,644 is included in property and equipment at 
December 3 1, 202 1. 
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14. Leases (prior to adoption of ASC 842) (continued) 

Schedu led future minimum lease payments under capital leases together with present value of the 
net min imum lease payments were as follows as of December 31 , 2021: 

For the years ending: 
December 31 , 2022 
December 3 1, 2023 
December 3 1, 2024 
December 3 1, 2025 
December 31, 2026 
Thereafter 

Tota l minimum lease payments 
Less current portion 
Long-term obi igation 

15. Member's Equity 

Successor 

$ 348.308 
322,5 18 
254,649 
203,734 
124, 197 

1,253,406 
(348,307) 

$ 905,099 

The equity structure of the Company in the successor period is a result of a contribution of 
$375,350,000 and $454.939,909 from investors as of December 3 1, 2021 and 2022, respectively. 
from Point Broadband Holdings, LLC as part of the Acqu isition. The Company is an indirect 
wholly owned subsidiary of Point Broadband Holdings, LLC. The contri bution amount is 
comprised of $56,796,250 and $39,443,024 of rollover equity as of December 3 1, 202 1 and 2022, 
respectively, as well as a $3 18,553,750 and $4 15,496,885 cash investment from GTCR and other 
investors as of December 3 1, 202 1 and 2022, respective ly. 

Point Broadband Acquisition ' s equity structure is described within the Limited Liabil ity Company 
Agreement (LLC Agreement) . The LLC Agreement permits the issuance of one hundred units of 
limited liabi lity company interest, al l of wh ich sha ll be of one class and sha ll be designated as 
Common Units and all of which shall be issued to the Member. Point Broadband Intermediate, 
LLC is the Member of the LLC Agreement and is also a wholl y owned subsidiary of Point 
Broadband Holdings, LLC. 
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15. Member's Equity (continued) 

Share-Based Compensation 

On October I, 202 1, the amended and restated LLC Agreement fo r Point Broadband Holdings, 
LLC put in place a plan to issue Management Incentive units. Point Broadband Holdings, LLC 
may, subject to the approva l of the Board of Directors, issue or se ll Class C Units to any ex isting 
or new employee, offi cer, director, consultant, or other Person or service prov ider of Point 
Broadband Holdings, LLC or any of its Subsidiaries (including any Management Holdco) pursuant 
to a Senior Management Agreement approved by the Board of Directors, which agreement shall 
contain such provisions as the Board of Directors shall determine. Under the Incenti ve Plan, Point 
Broadband Holdings, LLC provides share-based compensation awards to employees including 
time vest ing incentive units (co ll ectively, the Incentive Units or C Units) . C Units are defined 
within the Point Broadband Holdings, LLC Agreement as a Unit representing a fractional pa11 of 
the interest of a Unitholder in Profits, Losses, and Distributions and having the rights, powers, and 
obligations specified with respect to the Class C Units. Stock-based compensation expense related 
to the Company's employees has been recorded in the consolidated financial statements. 

As part of the Point Broadband Holdings, LLC Agreement, Secti on 3. I, Point Broadband 
Holdings, LLC is authori zed to issue unlimited Incentive Units. As of December 3 1, 202 1 and 
2022, Point Broadband Holdings, LLC had 97,850 and 92,630 Class C units issued and 
outstanding, respecti vely. 

The Class C Units are structured as time vesting incenti ve units that become vested at 20% on each 
of the first fi ve anniversaries of the effecti ve date and requires the employee to remain employed 
from the effective date through the app licable anniversary date. No units were vested as of 
December 3 1, 202 1. Upon the occurrence of a sale of the Company in the future. al l Incentive 
Units which have not become vested shall become vested as of the date of consummation of the 
sale. In the event of a separation, al I unvested Incentive Units automatically wit I be forfeited and 
deemed canceled and no longer outstanding without any payment and all vested Incentive Units 
wil l be subject to a right of repurchase at fair value by Point Broadband Holdings, LLC. Point 
Broad band Holdings. LLC may ass ign its repurchase rights to any person. Total share-based 
compensation expense of $4 13,910 and $ 1,423.588 was recognized in selling, general and 
administrative on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss fo r the period 
from October I, 202 1 to December 3 1, 202 1 (Successor) and December 3 1, 2022, respecti vely. 
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15. Member's Equity (continued) 

To determine the fair value of units issued in 2021 and 2022, the Company calculated the enterprise 
value as determined by discounted cash flow, guide line public company, and merger and 
acquisition valuation methodologies. The Company allocated the aggregate equity value among 
the securities that comprise the capital structure of the Company using the Option-Pricing Method. 

The incentive units are service condition awards only; as such , the Company has elected to account 
for forfeitures as they occur and adjust compensation expense. accordingly, as permitted by ASU 
2016-09. As of December 31, 2021 and 2022, there were zero units and 16,520 units forfeited, 
respectively. 

Refer to the table below for a summary of significant inputs and assumptions used to value the 
Class C Incentive Units: 

Assumed va lue of equity 
Ri sk-free rate of interest 
Expected time to a liquidity event (in years) 
Expected volatility of equity 
Discount for lack of marketability 

2304-4243222 

December 3 1, December 3 1, 
2022 2021 

$ 452.921.000 $ 390,064,000 
4.2% 0.9% 

4 5 
57.5% 
31.0% 

47.5% 
31.0% 
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15. Member's Equity (continued) 

Refer to the table below fo r a summary of the Level 3 fair value measurements: 

Balance at October l, 202 l 
Granted 
Forfe ited or cancelled 

Balance at December 31, 202 1 
Granted 
Forfeited or cancelled 

Balance at December 3 1, 2022 

Predecessor 

Level 3 Fair Va lue Measurement 

Class C 
incentive 

U nits 

97,850 

97.850 
11 ,300 

( 16,520) 
92,630 

Weighted 
Average Grant 
Date Fair Va lue Fair Value 

Per Unit Per Unit 

$ $ 
84.60 122.61 

84.60 122.61 
11 6.52 168.86 
84.60 122.61 

$ 116.52 $ 168.86 

Prior to the Acquisition, Point Broadband Fiber Holding, LLC had fi ve classes of shares 
outstanding - Series A, B. and C Preferred Shares, as well as a class of common shares, and 
Series E restricted shares. 

The Preferred Series A, B, and C shares were convertible into 1.0 common shares. The Series A 
shares had a liquidation preference of $1.94 per share. The Series B shares had a I iquidation 
preference of $2.53 per share. The 7,776,600 Series C shares issued in 2019 had a liquidation 
preference of $3.00 per share. The 8,750,00 I Series C shares issued in 2020 had a liquidation 
preference of $4.00 per share. 

In the event of a distribution of capital proceeds, the liquidation preference of the Series A, 
Series B, and Series C Preferred shares would have been applied with the fo l lowing priority : first 
to Seri es C shares, second to Series A shares and Series B shares combined on a pro rata basis. 

As part of the acquisition by Point Broadband Acquisition, all predecessor equi ty was retired. 
Refer to successor peri od di scuss ion fo r the new equity structure. 
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16. Subsequent Events 

The Company has eva luated subsequent events through April 26, 2023, which is the date these 
conso li dated financial statements were avai lab le to be issued. 

Equity Raise 

On January 29, 2023, the Company entered into a Unit Purchase Agreement (the Agreement), 
which authorized the Company to issue 350,000 shares of its Class A preferred stock and 5,250,000 
shares of its Class B common stock to B.P. Broadband Aggregator, LP (Investor). As of the date 
these financials were issued, thi s offering had not yet closed and no proceeds had been raised in 
relation to the Agreement. 

North Georgia Network Purchase Agreement 

On December 27. 2022, an Asset Purchase Agreement was entered into between Point Broadband 
Fiber Holding, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the Buyer) and Appalachian 
Broadband Technologies, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company (the Seller). Through the 
Purchase Agreement, the Seller agreed to transfer al I ownership in the assets of the Sel ler to the 
Buyer fo r $ 10,2 14,911. The acquisition closed on January 12, 2023 . 
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